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Corporate Information

NEER

ABOUT CGN MINING

CGN Mining is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and
is a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1164). The principal activities of the Company at present are
development and trading of natural uranium resources for use by
nuclear energy companies. The Company positions itself as the sole
overseas uranium development platform for the CGN Group, which
strives to provide nuclear power plants owners with high-quality
and reliable natural uranium products, and contributes to a clean
environment.

The Company adheres to its core value of “Doing Things Right in One
Go” and takes “Safety First, Quality Foremost, Pursuing Excellence” as
its working principle.
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

OPERATING RESULTS ¥/4&

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
20175 20164 20154 20144 20136
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FAT THET THET THL
(Restated)
(==7)
Continuing operations BENER
Revenue e 372,790 707,749 703422 1,151,707 796,594
Operating profit Kyl 67,746 469,513 275,273 113,049 60,320
Finance costs MEMA - (5,601) (21,990) (28,802) (27,292)
Profit before taxation BEATRF 67,746 463,912 253,283 84,247 33,028
Income tax expenses FEHZ L (15,668) (74,782) (49,920) (22,462) (16,978)
Profit from continuing REEE £
operations 2R 52,078 389,130 203,363 61,785 16,050

Discontinued Operation FEHEMER
Profit (loss) from discontinued A ZERHEM £ 1 p15

operation A (EE) - - 94,640 (103,660) -
Profit (loss) for the year AFEEHEH (FE) 52,078 389,130 298,003 (41,875) 16,050

Profit (loss) attributable to: THALEEER (B8 -
Owners of the Company /NIE 2D 52,078 389,130 297,981 (41,706) 16,365
Non-controlling interests FERER - - 22 (169) (315)
52,078 389,130 298,003 (41,875) 16,050

FINANCIAL POSITION Bt # ik 5%

As at 31 December

K128 31H

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
20175 2016 20154 20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THL AT FEL AT

(Restated)

(&=7)
Total assets BEBE 1,911,275 1886549  1,145300 2244346 1,652,395
Total liabilities AfEeE (120,520) (69,990) (385,650) (844,869) (573,819)

1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650 1,399,477 1,078,576

Equity attributable to owners AN E]H#EA A
of the Company (RS 1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650 1,397,836 1,076,778
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RS - - - 1,641 1,798

1,790,755 1,816,559 759,650 1,399,477 1,078,576

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Dear Shareholders,

Although the international natural uranium price remained low in the
past 2017, CGN Mining recorded a profit against a backdrop of
continuing market depression, which was like a splash of color in the
uranium mining industry.

Apart from pursuing stable operation, we have been always actively
seeking market opportunities while the uranium price remains low.
As the CGN Group’s sole overseas natural uranium development
platform, CGN Mining has been committed to exploring and investing
in high-grade and low-cost natural uranium resources in uranium-rich
global regions. As well as supplying natural uranium to the CGN Group,
CGN Mining is also attempting to expand into third-party markets for
trading natural uranium as part of its effort to improve the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and enhance its industrial
competitiveness. In the past year, we tried and validated new business
models while elaborating existing assets. We have adopted an open-
minded approach to looking for quality resources with competitive
advantages that will bring returns for Shareholders. We are seeking to
work with partners with same values to seize opportunities arising from
industry restructuring and to build CGN Mining into an enterprise of
significant influence.

We have always emphasized the importance of internal control
and risk management of the Company. When striving for business
breakthroughs, we have always recognised the great significance of
internal control and risk management in the operation of the Company.
To this end, the Board pays close attention to possible risks and
fully assesses their potential impact, to ensure that every decision is
discussed and argued to the fullest reasonable extent. Our firm belief
that sound internal control is the Company’s “invisible strength” has
led us to adopt stringent internal controls. These enable us to identify
potential operational risks and select truly high-quality assets as a
solid foundation for our Company’s development. Therefore, we will
continue to uphold this rigorously prudent approach to be accountable
to all Shareholders as we further strengthen our internal controls and
risk management, in order to preserve and increase the value of their
assets.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

We remain confident to the prospects of natural uranium industry
when looking forward to the future. As a clean, high-tech and cost-
competitive energy, we believe that the nuclear power will remain to be
an indispensable composition to the global energy for a long time to
come. Being a company principally engaged in operations pertaining
to natural uranium, we are confident that the industry will rebound in
the long run. What is required now is patience and pursue a course of
seizing existing opportunities to enhance the management level and
expand the scale of assets, so that the Company may rise abruptly
based on its accumulated strength upon the recovery of the natural
uranium industry.

APPRECIATION

As the chairman of the Board, | wish to express on behalf of the Board
of CGN Mining my heartfelt gratitude to the business partners, clients
and Shareholders who have given us their trust and support. | also
take this opportunity to sincerely thank all staff whose endeavours have
contributed to the development of the Company.

Chairman of the Board
Yu Zhiping

Beijing, 27 March 2018
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the management, | present to you the Company’s annual
results for 2017. The Company’s major results for the Reporting Period
are as follows:

. Revenue of HK$373 million (2016: HK$708 million);

° Gross profit margin (deducting sales and distribution
expenditure) being 32% (2016: 60%);

o Profit attributable to owners of the Company being HK$52
million (2016: HK$389 million), with basic earnings per share at
HKO0.79 cents (2016: HK7.05 cents).

The continuing downturn of the natural uranium market posed
significant challenges to the operating profit of the Company. Although
there was a closer correlation between the pricing mechanism for
a new three-year term of continuing connected transaction and the
natural uranium price index and the natural uranium price recorded
a further drop, the Company was still profitable in 2017. As the chief
executive officer, | hereby thank the Shareholders for their recognition
and support, and our staff for their diligent efforts and contributions.
| will summarise the performance of CGN Mining in 2017 and outline
subsequent work plans.

Steady operation of the uranium project

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine of
Semizbay-U operated effectively and exceeded targets set by the
annual mining plan. However, due to the on-going downturn of natural
uranium market and the increase in its composite cost, Semizbay-U
recorded a loss in 2017 but it still maintained a leading industry position
in terms of production costs. Fission’s PLS Project carried out winter
and summer exploratory programmes which successfully identified
new land-based ore bodies, along with a significant increase of its
resources. Considering that PLS Project is in the exploratory stage,
it can be expected that there is still potential for the growth of its
resources.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

HRHITERE

Steady implementation of the new Kazakhstan uranium project

Pursuant to the mining development agreement entered into in 2016,
Kazatomprom has incorporated a mining partnership for its two subject
mines in 2017. As scheduled, we will consequently acquire a 20,000-
ton reserve of uranium through purchasing part of the equity interest in
the mining partnership.

Improvement in asset operation capability

According to the nuclear fuel report published by the World Nuclear
Association (“WNA”) on 14 September 2017, although the growth
in global nuclear installed capacity is to slow down in future, the
total number of nuclear power units is still increasing, which means
a corresponding gradual rise in market demand for natural uranium.
We expect the price trend for natural uranium gradually to recover
or perhaps even rebound from its downturn over the medium to
long term. In the meantime we have explored several options which
may enable us to capture future opportunities. For example, we
approached potential investors in Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen
and Hong Kong to sound out their willingness to jointly establish a
natural uranium fund. We will further assess this initiative’s feasibility
based on natural uranium market trends. We have also conducted
special studies on other possible business models of natural uranium
to expand future business of the Company. Furthermore, in the
interest of improving the competitiveness of the Company’s principal
business, we intend to expand into third-party uranium market by way
of acquisition and seek out sales channels beyond the CGN Group.
Finally, in order to clearly specify the Company’s beneficiation criteria
and provide a reference for Board and management decision-making,
we have conducted systematic analysis and research to compile a
screening report on potential high-quality uranium mine projects. The
Company will examine and select high-quality uranium projects with
reference to these criteria.

The Company held two roadshows during the Reporting Period.
Through our communications with investors, we found that most
investors are not familiar with the natural uranium industry, and as
a result tended to pay less attention to the Company in the capital
market. In light of this finding, we intend to hold roadshows and
results announcement press conferences on a more regular basis,
with the aim of strengthening interaction with investors and enhancing
recognition of the Company in the capital market.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

Subsequent plan

Although many large uranium producers such as Cameco and
Kazatomprom announced large-scale production cuts for 2018,
the global natural uranium market is expected to remain sluggish in
2018 due to the high global inventory of natural uranium and the slow
recovery of Japan’s nuclear power sector. While the situation does
pose challenges for the Company’s operations, it also offers favourable
conditions for acquisitions.

In 2018, we will continue to stabilise operations and promote steady,
orderly development by continuous management-level enhancement
and creating value for Shareholders. To achieve the goals set by
the Board, we will continue to seek out and acquire new resources
to create a better foundation tier of natural uranium reserves on the
basis of promoting the production and exploration plans of existing
mines. We will also continue our exploration and development of new
businesses with which to minimise the negative operational impact
caused by significant fluctuations in natural uranium prices, and will
endeavour to seize opportunities during this trough period in order to
be well prepared for the next natural uranium price rise.

Chief Executive Officer
An Junjing

Beijing, 27 March 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in investment and trading of natural
uranium resources. As at 31 December 2017, the Group held 49%
equity interest and 49% off-take rights of products in Semizbay-U, as
well as 19.92% equity interest in Fission.

In 2017, the Company realised revenue of HK$373 million, and HK$52
million in profits attributable to owners of the Company.

Analysis of Business Environment
The nuclear power market and its industrial development

Currently, overall development of the international nuclear power
industry has slowed down. In its 2017 report, WNA lowered the global
installed capacity of nuclear power and demand for natural uranium
based on its 2015 forecast and reduced the expected accumulated
demand for natural uranium from 2018 to 2030 (middle term) from
1,024,467 to 958,759 tons, representing a decrease of 6.4%. In
China, the development of nuclear power continues to be affected by
the Fukushima nuclear accident. Influenced by the commissioning of
the first AP1000 nuclear reactor (a third-generation nuclear reactor
designed by Westinghouse Electric Corporation), the technological
convergence of Hualong | (an advanced 1000 MW pressurised water
reactor jointly researched and developed by the China National Nuclear
Group and the CGN Group), and close state scrutiny of nuclear safety,
no reactors were approved for construction during two consecutive
years in 2016 and 2017.

However, we believe that China’s general direction in nuclear power
development remains unchanged. The report of the 19th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China pointed out that China will
build an energy sector that is clean, low-carbon, safe and efficient. As it
is characterised by low resource consumption, marginal environmental
impact and stable supply, nuclear power will undoubtedly be an
important component of China’s energy infrastructure. Therefore, in
the long run, we remain confident about the development of nuclear
power and the growth of demand for nuclear fuel.

CGN Mining Company Limited
T ERZIEE AR A A

E 3 E1)

AEBEFERERAMERIRERES -
M2017F12 A31 B » AEERFBEHAF
49% MY R i I 49% EE mn M) B84 - AR
Fission A &) 19.92% HIRS #E o

P17 FARNREIREHXZITIAE BT -
NN EANELEF A2 BEETT -

ﬁ«< P }& 1= A *ﬁ-

Al R EEEERBENE - BE
WNA 2017 F#MEHE - 20154
TERAMER ETHATE2IZEERTER
KRGMF SR - HP 2018 E 2030 T8 K
N RETFERE (FE) 11,024,467 13 3
T #2=958,759WE # © T [£6.4% © il
Iﬁ?&%’%)@mmﬂiiﬁjza %@%éﬁz%; '
% AP1000 CERIFEE A RIFRETHIE 3%
?éiﬁﬂ)éfﬁaﬁ%u++aé—ﬂ<mqﬂﬂ¢zl
EEEAFEZEBRRARFENLEERS
TRABKE) KMTRMETE  M2BER
HZLZ2aEER  FEN2016F &
2017 F BB F ARRAEAZ T R EHEZE -

Am - RAIRSTEERERZENAT
FREE - PEHEEF T UREEAR
REMEEL - PREEZERER - %
T%_ MEBEREER - MZEREERE

VIRIBFE/)  HEENIRESEH
ﬂ%ﬂﬁmﬁk?}(qﬂlﬁm REANBERNE -
Rt - HREKRE - HMHZEEREZ
WREIE REIB RADFTME L ©

\\



Management Discussion and Analysis

Natural uranium market and its industry development

In 2017, the fundamental that global supply of natural uranium
exceeding demand remained unchanged, the natural uranium price
remained at low level but the trading volume increased. In the first three
quarters of the year, the price of uranium maintained at a low level and
the volume of trading shrank. However, in the wake of production cuts
announced by three international producers of natural uranium (namely
Orano, formerly known as Areva; Cameco Corp. and Kazatomprom),
the price of natural uranium rebounded and trading volume increased
significantly in the fourth quarter.

During the year, the monthly price of natural uranium in the international
spot market fell to less than USD20/Ib in May and October, but then
rebounded after November to USD23.75/Ib by the end of 2017.
The monthly average price in the spot market was USD21.62/Ib,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 16.1%. The monthly average
price in the long-term market was USD31.08/Ib, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 20.7%.

Note: The natural uranium price data in the paragraph are derived from the
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWR DM

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to firmly
implement the annual trading plan approved by the Board, to ensure
the achievement of the revenue targets of principal business, and to
optimize its management and control of existing assets.

Asset management

During the Reporting Period, based on the summary of the board and
shareholders’ meetings of Semizbay-U and its proposals in 2016, the
Company conducted a comprehensive evaluation of its governance
and control, put forward advice on the optimisation of the management
and control, and specified various aspects of concern to the Company
in the areas of corporate development strategy, decision-making,
risk management and internal control in respect to the governance of
Semizbay-U. In terms of Fission, the Company has implemented its
governance through participation in the board of Fission by designated
directors, and through financial supervision by designating a financial
manager on site.

Production and operation of Semizbay-U

In early 2017, Kazatomprom announced that it would cut the production
volume of the mines under its control by 10% in order to cope with the
natural uranium market downturn. In 2017, the two mines of Semizbay-U
operated satisfactorily, and the actual uranium production volume was
1,128 tons. Although there was a decrease of 9.18% as compared to
the production of 1,242 tons in 2016, the annual mining targets were
exceeded, of which 421 tons produced by Semizbay Mine and the
remaining 707 tons by Irkol Mine. Semizbay-U did not conduct any
further exploratory work during the Reporting Period.

Although the production volume of Semizbay-U decreased on a
year-on-year basis, the Company’s off-take of natural uranium for
the year were not affected on the basis of negotiation between both
parties. At the end of 2017, Kazatomprom announced a further
20% production cut for its mines between 2018 and 2020. It is
expected that the production of Semizbay-U for the next three years
will be correspondingly adjusted, and the Company will enhance
communications with Kazatomprom and endeavour to maintain the
off-take volume acquired from Semizbay-U at the same level as that
prior to the production cut.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

By adopting effective measures, the unit production cost of
Semizbay-U maintained high market competitiveness which is
significantly lower than the global average production cost of uranium
mine in recent years.

As of 31 December 2017, the resources of Semizbay-U were as
follows:

Table 1 — Uranium deposit reserves of Semizbay-U

Name of mine (project)

WL (EE) B8
1 Semizbay Mine
A
2 Irkol Mine
&

Note: According to Kazakh Classification System (CIS) standards, since
the establishment of Semizbay-U in 2008, uranium reserves of the
Semizbay Mine stood 17,108 tons, while uranium reserves of the Irkol
Mine was 29,541 tons (relevant data extracted from the competent
person’s report prepared by Blackstone Mining Associates Limited
in 2014). The existing reserve data is calculated based on the past
reserve, less the cumulative uranium mining volume.

Exploration by Fission

During the Reporting Period, the expenditures on exploration of
the PLS Project amounted to approximately CAD15 million, which
included implementation of 72 drilling holes (3,480.4 metres). Fission
successfully identified a new land-based ore body, R1515W, in the
westernmost zone of Triple R deposit during its winter and summer
exploration in 2017. The strike of the mineralized Patterson Lake tread
lies in an east-west direction, and the length of which is approximately
3.17 km. From west to east, the high grade zones discovered includes
R1515W, R840W, ROOE, R780E and R1620E. Collectively they
form the longest high-grade uranium metallogenic belt discovered in
Saskatchewan, Canada, and it is also one of the biggest untapped
high-grade uranium mines in the world. The current exploration results
indicate that the resources of PLS Project still has high potential of
growth in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREWE D

Figure 1: Distribution of Identified High-grade Zone on the PLS Project
1 PLSIE B B p @S I iR 2B

On 20 January 2018, Fission appointed an independent third-party
technical advisor RPA Inc. (“RPA”) to update the resources of PLS
Project (Table 2) based on the exploratory data as at 4 January
2018. The total uranium resources announced were approximately
54,086 tons, which increased by approximately 30% compared to the
estimated results issued by RPA in 2015. Among that, the indicated
resources increased by approximately 8%, while inferred resources
increased by approximately 95%. Comparing with the estimated
results of RungePincock Minarco (“RPM”), the competent person at
the time of acquisition of Fission, the total resource increased by 27%.
Among that, the indicated resources decreased by approximately
8%, while inferred resource increased by approximately 95%. The
estimated results in indicated resources of RPA have slightly decreased
from those of RPM, which was attributable to: () in order to utilize
the capital in a highly effective manner, Fission has established the
exploratory policy to prior increase the inferred resource and no
targeted exploratory plan was formulated to evevate resource level
since the completion of the acquisition of Fission; (i) RPM adopted
0.25% as the ore cut-off grade when estimating the underground
mining sector, while RPA adopted 0.3% as the ore cut-off grade; and
(iiiy different competent persons have different working experiences
and knowledge about mineral deposit, which lead to a common
phenomenon of inconsistent judgement on resources classification.
Overall, the discrepancy of the resources estimation results of RPA
and RPM stay within normal range. The significant increase in inferred
resources of PLS Project indicated the potential resources growth.

Table 2 — Resources of PLS Project under Fission

Indicated Resources
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Description of differences in calculation criteria and parameters of
Kazakhstan and Canada mines reserves: in Kazakhstan and other
countries of the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS), mineral
resources and reserves are classified according to the 1981 “System
of Classification of Reserves and Resources of Mineral Deposits”. This
uses seven categories in three groups based on the level of exploration
performed. Table 3 presents a ‘best estimate’ correlation of the Kazakh
classification system (CIS) to the JORC standard definitions. The CIS
system and the JORC system are not directly reconcilable. The primary
reason is that the reserves in the CIS system equal to the resources
in the JORC system. The reserves in the CIS system only related to
geological reliability, whereas the resources in the JORC system not
only related to geological reliability, but also related to the factors such
as mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental,
social and governmental.

Table 3 — Correlation of CIS to JORC standard definitions

CIS Classification CIS Categories
CIS7H CIS %5l
Explored Reserves Aand B
BR#FE AMB
Explored Reserves C1

BR#EE C1
Pre-assessment Reserves c2

TERHh R E c2
Prognosticated Reserves P1, P2 and P3
TRRl#E P1 - P2F1P3

Natural uranium trading business

As of 31 December 2017, most of the natural uranium products sold
by the Company were sourced from self-owned mines of Semizbay-U,
and the amount of natural uranium trading achieved HK$371 million,
representing a 47% decrease compared to 2016 (2016: HK$706
million). Pursuant to the New Natural Uranium Sales Framework
Agreement, the natural uranium transactions between the Company and
CGNPC-URC are conducted under new pricing mechanism, namely a
floor price and ceiling price with reference to the basis of market price.
The selling price of natural uranium declined significantly compared to
2016 during the Reporting Period, resulting a 72% decrease in gross
profits.

JORC Resources

BERENWE DN

BERATERNERBELH ST EEER
2 ERIFA - ARERATEMAE N EX
Broee (EEEE) NEMER - BEZRM
HEERIE 1981 £/ [ FEEBENERE R
DEEBR] 98 - RO BEERBEEREK
FHRAZACEER - RIBETHRER
DIBRL(CIS)EEJORCERFEHM [ &1E
&5 ) MR - CIS &M JIORC 22T
BEEEFAMG - TZREAR  CISREHR
NHEEERJORCHEFTHERE ' ©
g E ] EIRE B - JORCESAF
MFEEREDE ] EE M EEBEEE N
FERESN - BEREIE  JRER  AOE C TiH -
FEECRE Mg BINSFEEBM -

RI-MERDBERFCIS B JORCHERIE
EHERAM

JORC Reserves

JORC ¥R JORC f# &

Measured Proven
REAAR BER
Indicated Probable
22 Il A HMER
Inferred

Exploration Results

BhERAs

ARME 5 R

HE2017F 128318 KARBEENK
RBEMABOREFARBAREL - &
BIRKRIME HEEI7T1 HEHE T 52016
FR%47%(20164F : 706 BEBT) ° 1R
BCRRASIEEERBZR) - MEHA -
RAREPEZHEFERAENORARE
SETHTERS - E2EMSER
B E FHTEREAERES - ARRE
HAIR R AR S & B 2016F E LI K18
TR - HHERNTET72% o

Annual Report 2017
T FER

17



18

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Developing new projects

Pursuant to the Mining Principles Agreement on the Joint Development
of Kazakhstan Uranium Deposit and its supplemental agreement
entered into by the Company, CGNPC, CGNPC-URC, Kazatomprom
and UMP in 2016, the Company has conditionally selected the subject
mines. In October 2017, Kazatomprom completed the integration of
two subject mines and consolidated them into a mining partnership.
The partnership made good progress in production and operation
during the Reporting Period. Currently, the Company is taking forward
the acquisition of uranium mines according to the above agreements
and in connection with the progress of the fuel assembly plant
constructed by CGNPC-URC and Kazatomprom in Kazakhstan.

The Company always be optimistic about the future development
of the natural uranium market. As such, it endeavours to seize the
favourable investment opportunities arising from the current downturn
in the natural uranium market, and is proactively seeking uranium
projects with cost competitiveness in the current market so as to
further strengthen the Company’s competitiveness in the industry.

Potential risks during operation and risk management
Risks of failing to identify the market cycle

Due to the difficulty of accurately predicting price trends for natural
uranium and taking into consideration that excessive irrational
investment and excessively conservative investment will adversely
affect the Company’s future development, the Company pays close
attention to the analysis, research and price forecasting of the natural
uranium market in order to provide an effective basis for the Board’s
decision-making. To this end, the Company has established an internal
uranium price forecast system and dedicated posts for continually
tracking the natural uranium market and monitoring industry dynamics
which gives on-going price forecast support for business strategies,
business operations, contract negotiations and project cooperation.

Risk of diluting the shareholding in Fission

As it represents a significant investment and mark of the Company’s
confidence, Fission has been a point of intense focus for the
Company’s management. Since the proportion of shareholdings
involved in the investment is directly related to the Company’s off-
take rights of natural uranium products and the right to participate in
the governance of Fission, the Company will endeavour to slow down
its fund use appropriately by exerting its influence from the directors
of Fission designated by the Company in future to ensure that Fission
has sufficient cash flow to meet demand during the downturn of the
natural uranium market. The Company will subsequently conduct
a comprehensive analysis of the feasibility of further investment,
combined with the actual progress and prospects of the project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

High proportion of connected transaction

Due to the narrow applications of natural uranium, its buyers are limited
to the owners of nuclear power stations or international traders of
natural uranium. As the CGN Group has a large demand for natural
uranium of which only about 15% can be satisfied by the natural
uranium products supplied by the Company, the off-take natural
uranium products in the Company were fully supplied to the CGN
Group currently, causing a high proportion of connected transactions
in the Company’s main business. To this end, the Company has
been working to expand into third-party markets while intending to
enhance its business scale and adjust its profit-making model through
acquisitions of high-quality uranium mines. The Company additionally
intends to exploit new markets through business combination.

Capital guarantee risk

In the current environment of depressed natural uranium prices, the
Company will continue to track high-quality and high-grade uranium
mine projects and acquire the same as and when appropriate.
Taking into account the Company’s future development demand for
capital, it will formulate a sound capital and financing plan based on
a reasonable assessment of the economic efficiency and feasibility of
potential projects, and introduce new strategic partners as and when
appropriate to jointly develop and operate them.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Forecast of the natural uranium market

Combining analyses and forecasts from various international major
institutions, the Company forecasts that the fundamentals of over-
supply of natural uranium market will remain unchanged for years to
come. In face of this market environment, the Company will maintain
stable operations via such measures as controlling production costs
and strengthening its management and control of risks.

Business Development
Operation of Semizbay-U and management and control of Fission

To ensure gains on its long-term equity investment in Semizbay-U, the
Company will continue to participate in the project’s operation and
management and will ensure that it meets its annual production targets
and controls the production costs of Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine
within the targets set by the board of Semizbay-U. At the same time,
the Company will assist Semizbay-U in its exploratory work and strive
to complete the preparation of the exploration plan for the surrounding
area of Semizbay Mine and the development plan for No.4 and No.5
mine belt of Irkol Mine in 2018.
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Due to continuing discoveries of new land-based ore bodies, Fission’s
resources are expected to increase substantially. In the meantime,
the board of Fission has considered conducting preliminary feasibility
research on some of the shallow ore bodies in order to counterbalance
the operational risks posed by the current low natural uranium prices.
The Company will participate in the preparation and determination of
Fission’s annual exploration plan and give reasonable advice on its
early technical plan for preliminary feasibility research by designated
directors, in order to lay a good foundation for its exploration and
development of subsequent projects in the long and medium-term.

Expanding new market and exploring new business

To control and reduce the risks from the single market and substantial
fluctuations in natural uranium prices, and thus enhance market
competitiveness, the Company will continue its efforts to expand the
third-party trade of natural uranium in 2018 and will also demonstrate
the feasibility of jointly establishing natural uranium commercial
reserves and a natural uranium fund by introduction of strategic
investors from the perspective of operation.

Promoting the acquisition of new projects

In 2018, the Company will continue to implement the new uranium
deposit project in Kazakhstan and will reach its targets by phases. It
also intends to continuously track other overseas uranium projects
which have low costs and high quality, especially projects including
the in-situ leachable sandstone-type uranium mines of Central Asia,
and will contact potential targets in due course. In addition, the
Company will seek to establish strategic partnerships with international
uranium manufacturers and traders, and will study the feasibility of joint
development of uranium deposit projects.

Enhancing maintenance of the investor relationship

The Company intends to further increase its investment in investor
relationships to help investors better understand the characteristics of
the industry and promote mutual understanding. This will be facilitated
by regular roadshows, enhancing the quality of information disclosure,
and adding professional information on the natural uranium industry
and updating the Company’s news on its website. The ultimate aim of
these measures is to establish a smooth, bidirectional communication
mechanism between the Company and capital markets.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Optimising corporate operations

The Company will further strengthen its internal controls and improve
management efficiency through continuous optimization of its
operation system by prioritization and refining of the departments’
functions and the job responsibilities in 2018. Meanwhile, in order to
strengthen the identification and monitoring of connected transactions
and avoid default risks, the Company will also introduce a specific
connected transaction management procedure to further perfect its
connected transaction management.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
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Financial performance reflects the operation of the Company
throughout the year. By paying attention to changes in financial
indicators, business development of the Company can be fully

understood.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND

POSITION

Major Financial Indicators

Profitability indicators

Gross profit margin (%)’

EBITDA (HK$’ million)?

EBITDA/Revenue (%)’

Net profit margin (%)

Operation ability indicators

Receivables cycle — average (Days)’

Investment return indicators

Return on equity (%)°

Profit attributable to owners of the
Company to revenue ratio’

Return on assets (%)®

Repayment ability indicators

Bank balances and cash (HK$’ million)

Net tangible assets (HK$’ million)®

Gearing ratio (%)™

Interest coverage'’
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BREEHIEE
EFE (%)’ 31.93 59.84
EBITDA(E&BT)? 69.60 471.46
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HRITRTFRRS (BEET) 1,017.11 40.92
BREEFE(BEESET)® 1,790.76 1,816.56
BARBBLR (%) 6.73 3.85
MeBER" N/A 83.83
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1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue
multiplied by 100%.

2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation and
amortisation, if any.

3. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation and
amortisation, if any, divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

4. Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

5. Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the
end of Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales (revenue divided
by 360 days).

6. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average

equity (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of
Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

7. Profit attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue
multiplied by 100%.

8. Profit for the year divided by total average assets (i.e the arithmetic
average of the beginning and the end of Reporting Period) multiplied by
100%.

9. Net assets less intangible assets, if any.

10. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.

11. Profit before interest and taxes divided by finance costs.

Financial results

As at 31 December 2017, the Group realized revenue of HK$373
million, representing a decrease of HK$335 million or 47% as
compared to the revenue of HK$708 million in 2016; the Group
realized profit of HK$52 million, representing a decrease of HK$337
million or 87% as compared to the profit of HK$389 million in 2016.
Profit attributable to owners of the Company was HK$52 million,
representing a decrease of HK$337 million or 87% as compared to the
profit of HK$389 million in 2016.

The New Natural Uranium Sales Framework Agreement of the Group
was approved by independent Shareholders on 29 December 2016,
pursuant to which, a new pricing mechanism was implemented on the
sales of natural uranium in 2017. Since the pricing mechanism is more
closely tied to market fluctuations, the selling price of natural uranium
decreased significantly for the Reporting Period as compared with the
corresponding period in 2016, resulting in a considerable decline in
revenue and profit in 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVENUE

For the year ended

31 December
BEZ12A31HILLEE

2017

2017

HK$’'000

THET

Natural uranium trading KRWE 5 370,720
Property investment MERE 2,070
Total revenue BEEE 372,790

The revenue of the Group decreased by 47% to HK$373 million in
2017 as compared to the revenue of HK$708 million of 2016. It was
mainly due to the implementation of the pricing mechanism of the New
Natural Uranium Sales Framework Agreement by the Group since
2017, which is more closely tied to market fluctuations, resulting in a
significant decrease in the selling price of natural uranium as compared
with the corresponding period of 2016.

Cost of sales

For the year ended
31 December
HZ12A31ALLEE

2017
2017
HK$'000
THL

Natural uranium trading RAWE 5 253,774
Property investment MERE -
Total cost of sales HER NS 253,774

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by 11% from HK$284 million
in 2016 to HK$254 million in 2017. It was mainly due to the downturn
of international natural uranium market, resulting in a slight decrease
in the purchasing price of natural uranium of the Group for 2017 as
compared with 2016.

BERENWNE DN

= 3
Percentage
Movements change
2HE  2REHL
Increase/ Increase/
2016 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20165 i/ CRd) &/ (Rd)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
705,556 (334,836) 47
2,193 (128) (©)
707,749 (334,959 47

NEEEEFH 2016 EH 708 BEB TR
DAT% E2017FHIS7TZEEE L - TEIR
A EAREE B 2017 FHRIKF R AR M E
ER ) THERHEE - ZEEHEH R
MG EMBEEER - RAMHEERER
2016 FRIEABE AR T -

SHEM A

Percentage

Movements

295
Increase/ Increase/
2016 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20165  Ei0/CRd) i/ ORd)
HK$'000 HK$'000 %

TERT TERT
284,244 (30,470) (1)
284,244 (30,470) (1)

REBHEKAH2016FR 284 B BB T
P 11%E2017TFH254B88BAET - £ 2
REL BB RABIISEL  EHAER
2017 FRAMIREERB 2016 F/NMET

3
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREWE D

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Influenced by the pricing mechanism under the New Natural Uranium
Sales Framework Agreement, the Group’s gross profit of natural
uranium trading decreased by 72% from HK$421 million in 2016 to
HK$117 million in 2017 and gross profit margin decreased from 60%
in 2016 to 32% in 2017.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group increased by 172% from
HK$7 million in 2016 to HK$20 million in 2017, mainly due to the
increase of interest rate of deposit placed at CGNPC Huasheng during
the Reporting Period as compared to the corresponding period of
2016, causing significant increase in interest income.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by 17% from HK$41
million in 2016 to HK$34 million in 2017, mainly due to no consultancy
fee during the Reporting Period arising from the similar nature of
the acquisition of equity interest in Fission as in the corresponding
period of 2016, and the further implementation of cost reducing and
efficiency improving measures by the Group in the downturn market
environment.

Share of results of a joint venture

The major joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share
of results of a joint venture decreased by 146% from the profit of
HK$45 million in 2016 to the loss of HK$21 million in 2017, mainly due
to the decrease in sales prices of natural uranium produced by the
Semizbay-U as a result of the continuous downturn of international
natural uranium market in 2017, and the production-cut measures
implemented by Semizbay-U during the Reporting Period.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Share of results of an associate

The major associate of the Company is Fission. The share of results of
an associate decreased by 149% from the profit of HK$33 million in
2016 to the loss of HK$16 million in 2017, including HK$9 million share
of loss for the Reporting Period and the HK$7 million provision of long-
term investment impairment.

During the Reporting Period, part of the share options granted by
Fission to its directors and employees were exercised and 1,463,044
ordinary shares were issued, as a result, the equity interests in Fission
held by the Company decreased to 19.92% (31 December 2016:
19.98%).

Finance costs

The Company did not incur any finance costs in 2017. Finance
costs in 2016 amounted to HK$6 million, mainly due to that China
Uranium Development exercised the conversion rights attached to the
convertible bonds in respect of a principal amount of HK$300,000,000
at the conversion price of HK$0.23 per conversion share. As at 9 May
2016, all convertible bonds held by China Uranium Development were
converted.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses decreased by 79% from HK$75 million in 2016 to
HK$16 million in 2017, mainly due to the significant decrease in profit
before taxation of the Company for 2017 as compared with 2016.

Profit for the year

Our annual profit significantly decreased from HK$389 million in 2016
to HK$52 million in 2017. It was mainly due to the decrease in trading
profits of off-take products, the loss recorded by Semizbay-U and no
one-off gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition of equity
interest in Fission, an associate of the Company, in the Reporting
Period as compared to the corresponding period in 2016.

ASSETS CONDITION AND ANALYSIS

Total Assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total assets amounted to
HK$1,911 million, representing an increase of HK$24 million or 1%
from HK$1,887 million as at 31 December 2016.

BEEFWE DN
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

Liabilities

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to
HK$121 million, representing an increase of HK$51 million or 72% from
HK$70 million as at 31 December 2016, mainly due to the fact that the

purchase amount payable by the Group to Semizbay-U for the delivery
of natural uranium in December 2017 was in the credit period.

Net current Assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s net current assets was
HK$1,044 million (2016: HK$1,079 million). The change was primarily
due to the distribution of final dividend for 2016 during the Reporting
Period, resulting in the decrease in bank deposits of the Group.

Current Assets

afE

B2017F12 31 B AEEEBEREL
121 BEBTT - B 2016F 12 A31 HEY70
BEETEMSIBEET  BR72% - *
DHREREARKAEEHK2017F 12 AFR AR
R RN TN T 2 AT AR R RN EE
/HH °

RBEEFE

MR20179F12 A31 H @ AEBREBEEF
%81,044 B BT (20164 - 1,079 B &8
70 BEHNEERARR RS HRNIKE
T2016FERIMRE - FAEEAIRITF
RBEE

Percentage

Movements
293
Increase/

As at 31 December
M12A31H
Increase/

2017 2016
20175 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET

(Decrease)
i,/ (i)
HK$'000
TBT

(Decrease)

Em/ OB

Trade and other receivables R ST B 0 R Lt FE U BR X 128,900 8,886 120,014 1,351
Amount due from an intermediate  FEUR— s RHEAR A RIZUA

holding company 1,546 2,650 (1,104) (42)
Amount due from fellow 3 GES = PNGEE

subsidiaries - 1,080,947 (1,080,947) (100)
Bank balances and cash RITEGFERIRS 1,017,111 40,915 976,196 2,386
Income tax recoverable AR EI TSR 4,280 - 4,280 N/A

TEA

Total current assets MEEEBE 1,151,837 1,133,398 18,439 2

R2017F12 A31H » "EERBEES

As at 31 December 2017, the current assets of the Group were

26

HK$1,152 million, representing a slight increase as compared
to HK$1,133 million as at 31 December 2016. Trade and other
receivables recorded a significant increase as compared to 2016,
mainly due to the fact that the sales payment receivable by the
Company from China Uranium Development for the delivery of natural
uranium in December 2017 was in the credit period.

CGN Mining Company Limited
P EZEEAR AT

1,152 BB HE L B2016F 12 A31 BH
1,133 B BB/ MBIE N o IR R E
h FE KGR ER 2016 F A BAIRZIE 00+ =
TR AARNAR 2017 F12 AR R EHE
BRI H WA RAHIEE R SRR EE
/Hﬂ °



Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2017, the deposits of the Group in CGNPC
Huasheng were classified as bank balances and cash (31 December
2016: classified as amounts due from fellow subsidiaries).

As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount of bank balances and
cash of the Group was approximately HK$1,017 million (31 December
2016: HK$41 million), among which approximately 30% (31 December
2016: 4%) was denominated in HKD, 68% (31 December 2016: 19%)
was denominated in USD, and 2% (31 December 2016: 77%) was
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any bank deposits
and cash pledged to any banks (31 December 2016: Nil).

As at 31 December 2017, the proportion of current assets of the
Group over total assets was 60% (31 December 2016: 60%), and the
proportion of bank balances and cash over total assets was 53% (31
December 2016: 2%).

Non-current Assets

BERENWNE DN

M2017412 A31H » KREBEFMNF
BREBRNESHPBARTEERES
(2016912 A31H : DiEARIKERKHE

RAFIA)

PR2017F12 318 AEBHEAEWNIR
THEBERBAeESHHO1,017TEEET
(201612 A31 8 : 41 HEFT) » Hep
#4930% (201612 A31 R : 4%) AETT
68% (2016 F 12 A31 8 : 19%) BFEIT
2%(20164F12 A31H : 77%) B ARE o
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MH2017F 12 A31 B AEBREEEL
BEERHA60%(20165F12 318 ¢
60%)  RITHETF RIS (LB EER LA
A53% (2016 4F12 A31 H : 2%) °

FRBEE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
W12H31H 2Hm  FPES
Increase/ Increase/
2017 2016 (Decrease) (Decrease)
2017 & 20165 i/ CRd) &/ (Rd)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE T FHL
Property, plant and equipment  #1% « BB ik 16,529 17,347 (818) (5)
Investment properties KEYE 31,427 29,021 2,406 8
Interest in a joint venture R—HEEErE ER 161,280 186,467 (25,187) (14)
Interest in an associate Rl b R 550,202 520,316 29,886 6
Total non-current assets FRBEELR 759,438 753,151 6,287 1
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

As at 31 December 2017, the non-current assets of the Group were

HK$759 million, representing an increase of HK$6 million or 1% from

HK$753 million as at 31 December 2016.

Current Liabilities

R20175F 12 A31 H » ZEBFERBEE
BT59BEEBIL K2016F12 831 HE
753 BEAETTIEMe BEEIT > 1% o

RBRE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
M12A31R 298  2¥ask
Increase/ Increase/
2017 2016 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20175 20165 1EI/CRS) i/ Ofd)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT THT
Trade and other payables FERR R R E MR 90,152 8,803 81,349 924
Amount due to an intermediate e — R R A R 0B
holding company 6,490 13,238 (6,748) (51)
Amount due to a joint venture B —f& & hETE 5,513 5,813 (300) (5)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  JEf} R R B A 7B 1,212 378 834 221
Income tax payable JERT TR 4,047 26,353 (22,306) (85)
Total current liabilities mEEERRE 107,414 54,585 52,829 97

MN2017F12 831 B AEBRDEES
107 BBEIT - 20164F 12 431 HAY55
BEBTER2BEEEL  BRI7% -
FERAEAEFE 2017 F12 AH R AR
RMHEZ TR A KBRS ENMEE R
A e

As at 31 December 2017, the current liabilities of the Group were
HK$107 million, representing an increase of HK$52 million or 97% from
HK$55 million as at 31 December 2016, primarily due to the fact that
the purchases payment payable by the Group to Semizbay-U for the
delivery of natural uranium in December 2017 was in the credit period.

M2017F 12 A31 B - AEEWEE (7]
RITEFH (2016512 4310 : &) - iRiE
ANAREPEZERN2015F 12 18 H
RINMER S ARRIB B XIRRBE
M=FR  EEEREEAR o TEmF
BREREAESAREHESEE -

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no bank borrowings (31
December 2016: Nil). Pursuant to the loan agreement entered into
between the Company and CGNPC Huasheng on 18 December 2015,
the Company can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for short-term
capital within the limit of total borrowing from time to time within 3 years
of first withdrawal.

28 CGN Mining Company Limited
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EEENWmR DM

Non-current liability IRBERE
Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
K128 31H 2Hm  EPask
Increase/ Increase/
2017 2016 (Decrease) (Decrease)
2017 20165 i/ CRd) i/ (Ad)
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TR THET THT
Deferred tax liabilities BRERERE 13,106 16,405 (2,299) (19)
Total non-current liability FrRBaERs 13,106 15,405 (2,299) (15)

As at 31 December 2017, the non-current liabilities of the Group were
HK$13 million, representing a decrease of HK$2 million or 15% from
HK$15 million as at 31 December 2016, primarily due to the loss from
share of results of Semizbay-U during the Reporting Period.

R2017F12 31 B AEBERSEE
B13EBEETT - K2016F 12 A31HA15
BEBTRL2EEEIT M2 15% ° *
ZRASMEHAELH R TEESRSE

e

Total equity ERBEE
Percentage
As at 31 December Movements change
W12A31H pEks - EIER g
Increase/ Increase/
2017 2016 (Decrease) (Decrease)
2017 2016%F M/ Cfd) i/ (Rd)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
THT THT FHT
Share capital f AR 66,007 66,007 0 0
Reserves e 1,724,748 1,750,552 (25,804) )
Total equity EneR 1,790,755 1,816,559 (25,804) (1)

As at 31 December 2017, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$1,791 million, representing a decrease of HK$26 million or 1%
from HK$1,817 million as at 31 December 2016, mainly due to the
distribution of final dividend of approximately HK$132 million in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2016 during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings/equity attributable to
owners of the Company) was 7% (2016: 4%).

R2017F 128318 » AEBEREFAHE
B1791 B BB 82016F 12 A31H
W1BITEBATR 268 EE T &
P1% TEREESMEHANIRE TEHZE
2016512 431 B IEFE R AR AR B 47132
BEBTT °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREWE DA

Assets and investments

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any significant
equity investment, major acquisition or disposal.

Investment orientation

According to business positioning and development strategy of the
Company, the main investment direction of the Company is still to
acquire overseas uranium resource projects with competitiveness and
low cost. The Company will carry out relevant investment activities
as and when appropriate to lay a solid foundation for the further
development.

FINANCIAL CAPITAL

The Company adopts prudent capital and treasury policy and goals.
During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund was
mainly from the cash generated from operating activities. The capital
needs requirements of the Company mainly come from the possible
acquisition expenses of acquiring natural uranium resources and funds
for operation.

The financing capacity of the Company is affected by multiple external
and internal factors. In order to obtain financing on more favourable
terms, the Company has to understand the external financing
environment and adopts a reasonable financing model and strategies
based on its structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company constantly pays close attention to the trends in the
financial market, considers how to respond to internal and external
financial risks, formulates reasonable financing model and strategies to
ensure the safety and economical efficiency of financing, and adopts
strict management measures for debt risks to prevent related risks
exposed to the Company, and to facilitate the financial health and the
development of core business.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market environment,
the Company has been exploring diverse financing approaches and
been striving to establish a financing model with combination of short,
medium and long-term capitals, merges direct financing and indirect
financing and other various financing channels to ensure the protection
of stable fund. In the process of debt financing, the Company has
taken a balanced approach to both costs and safety. The Company is
committed to the pursuit of a competitive financing cost rather than the
lowest one to ensure the security of financing and the quality of service
received.

For projects with large amount of capital expenditures and sound
expected returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity
financing to balance risks and enhance Shareholders’ value.

Types of financing products

Diversified financing varieties enable the Company to avoid from relying
on a single financing channel, so as to ensure that the Company has
choices in meeting the different capital needs.

On 18 December 2015, the Company (as borrower) and CGNPC
Huasheng (as lender) entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to
which the Company can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for short-
term capital within the limit of total borrowing from time to time within
3 years of first withdrawal. As at 31 December 2017, the Company did
not have any borrowing from external banks. If any suitable acquisition
opportunity arises in the future, the Company can borrow from CGNPC
Huasheng for short-term capital and raise funds from diverse financing
channels to meet project requirements.

On 13 December 2016, the Company completed the placing of
659,400,000 new shares to Hong Kong Xinmao at a price of HK$0.52
per share and raised a fund of HK$342,888,000. The Company
intended to use the fund in acquiring oversea uranium resources at a
competitive cost under weak market conditions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREWE DA

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares in issue totally (31 December 2016: 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares), the market value of the Company was approximately
HK$4,160 million (31 December 2016: HK$3,900 million).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The development of the Group comes with various financial risks, such
as debt risk and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2017, there were no banking borrowings, other
borrowings or interest-bearing liabilities of the Company, reserving
more space for the Company to acquire overseas uranium resource
projects through debt financing.

In order to manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the
cash and cash equivalents and the unutilized credit, to ensure a
sufficient liquidity for the operation of the Company and to lower the
effect from the cash flow volatility. Management of the Company wiill
also keep an eye on the external borrowing, to ensure the sufficiency of
borrowing credit. As at 31 December 2017, the Company has undrawn
borrowing credit of USD300,000,000.

Exchange rate risk

The functional currency of the Company is USD. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly settled
in USD and RMB (2016: USD and RMB), while its cash was mainly
denominated in USD and HKD (2016: USD and HKD).

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Fluctuations in exchange rate of Tenge and CAD may have an impact
on the Company’s interest in Semizbay-U and Fission respectively.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company always targets to
control cost rather than profitability. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not have any forward foreign exchange contracts, interests
or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purposes,
and the Group did not experience any significant difficulty or impact in
its operation or liquidity due to the fluctuation in exchange rate.

CONTINGENCY EVENTS

External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external
guarantee (2016: Nil). The Company did not provide any guarantee to
its subsidiaries or other companies, nor allow subsidiaries to provide
any form of guarantee to any entities or individuals without the approval
of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any pledge of
assets (2016: Nil).

Contingent liability

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any major contingent
liability (31 December 2016: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirmed that there was no litigation, and it is not aware
of any pending or threatened litigation against the Company which had
or could have a material and adverse effect on the financial condition
or results of operations of the Company during the Reporting Period.
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Corporate Governance Report
Lz A—h— \A$E¢

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good
corporate governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality
Board, sound internal control, and transparency and accountability to
all Shareholders in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the
Company. We firmly believe that good corporate governance practice
can eamn the trust of Shareholders as well as other stakeholders, and
most importantly, preserve the long-term interests of the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Zhiping (“Mr. Yu”), aged 54, is currently the chairman of the
Board and serving as the chairman of CGNPC-URC, Swakop Uranium
(PTY) Ltd. (“Swakop Uranium”) (fEiz#hZHRAR AR ") and
China General Nuclear Power Services Corporation® (F E1x iR 75 (5=
E) AR AR, respectively. Mr. Yu joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint
Venture Limited* (“Guangdong Nuclear Joint Venture”) (BERZE 4 &
AR 7]) (a subsidiary of the CGN Group) in 1989 and served as the
deputy director (presiding) of the generation scheduling division of the
production department since 1998. He subsequently served as the
planned statistics manager of the development planning department,
the secretary general of the financial and economic affairs committee,
the director of the research centre and the general manager of the
strategic planning department from July 2000 to September 2009. Mr.
Yu served as the director and general manager of CGNPC-URC from
September 2009 to January 2018 and as the general manager of the
nuclear fuel division of CGNPC from May 2015 to January 2018. Mr.
Yu graduated with a Bachelor degree in engineering mechanics from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology* (ZEFREHEAEZ) in
1985 and was accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 1995. He
has over 27 years of experience in corporate management and nuclear
fuel system operation.
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Executive Director and Chief Executive officer

Mr. An Junjing (“Mr. An”), aged 44, is currently the chief executive
officer of the Company and serving as the general manager of the
nuclear fuel division of CGNPC and the director and general manager
of CGNPC-URC. Mr. An joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint Venture in
July 1996 and successively served as the head of the general training
division and assistant to director of the training centre of Daya Bay
Nuclear Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (K25 EiE L EIEHR
& {£/2 7)) and the deputy general manager of Fangchenggang branch
from March 2003 to August 2011. Mr. An served as the manager of
production department and subsequently as the assistant to general
manager of Guangxi Fangchenggang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (&
FapA B B AR A ) from December 2011 to May 2014. Mr. An
served as the deputy director of the office of the board and director of
the research office of CGNPC from February 2014 to February 2016.
He served as the deputy general manager (presiding) of the system
management department of CGNPC from February 2016 to January
2018. Mr. An graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in engineering in
nuclear and thermal energy utilization from Tsinghua University* (&
FERE) in July 1996 and subsequently obtained a Master’s degree
in engineering in nuclear and nuclear engineering from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University* (/822382 in June 2009. Mr. An was accredited
as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 2009.
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Executive Director

Mr. Chen Deshao (“Mr. Chen”), aged 43, is currently the chief
financial officer of the Company and serving as the chief accountant
of the nuclear fuel division of CGNPC and CGNPC-URC. Mr. Chen
also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of CGNPC-URC,
including China Uranium Development, Swokop Uranium, etc. Mr.
Chen served as the deputy manager of the finance department of the
materials trading centre of Anhui Materials Corporation* (ZZ&#)& &
B2 7)) from July 1996 to December 2001. He subsequently joined
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Power Services Group Co., Ltd.*
(BRE AT EZEREEEBRAT) in December 2001. Mr. Chen
successively held positions of head of finance department, manager
of budget management, deputy director of budget department and
director of budget department of CGNPC from May 2007 to July
2013. He served as an assistant manager of the finance department
of China Nuclear Power Engineering Co., Ltd.* (1 &% T2 BR A )
from July 2013 to June 2014 and the manager of finance department
of CGNPC-URC from June 2014 to January 2018. Mr. Chen graduated
with a Bachelor of economics degree in accounting from Anhui Finance
and Trade College* (ZE EZ85%) in June 1996 and a Master’s
degree in accounting from Xiamen University* (EF9AX28) in 2012.
Mr. Chen obtained the senior accountant title of the PRC in 2008
and was accredited as a non-practicing member of China Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 2009. He has over 21 years of financial
management experience
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Fang Chunfa (“Mr. Fang”), aged 49, is currently a general
manager of the strategic planning department of CGNPC and CGN
Power Co., Ltd.* (FREIEZE HH AR AT (“CGN Power”, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code 01816) and serving as the director of CGNPC-URC, CGN Capital
Holdings., Ltd. and CGN Energy International Holdings., Ltd. (‘CGN
Energy International”), respectively. Mr. Fang joined Guangdong
Nuclear Joint Venture in June 1993 and he served successively
as the secretary to the board of directors, the deputy manager of
the administration department and the manager of the operation
management department at Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operations &
Management Company Limited* (KZ5/&1% TELEIE AR EERR)
from March 2003 to August 2011. Mr. Fang served as the director of
the research center of CGNPC from August 2011 to May 2014. He
also served as the secretary of the board of directors and the company
secretary of CGN Power from March 2014 to March 2016 and from
April 2014 to March 2016 respectively. Mr. Fang graduated from
Beijing Foreign Studies Institute (1t FHMNE 3B £2652) with major in English
language in July 1989, and obtained a master’'s degree in business
administration from Huazhong University of Science and Technology
(FEFRHTAE) in June 2009. Mr. Fang was accredited as a senior
engineer by CGNPC in December 2008.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhang Chengbai (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 55, is currently serving
as the general manager of capital operation department of CGNPC,
a non-executive Director of CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code 01811), a director of CGN Energy International, the general
manager of Guangdong Nuclear Power Investment Company Limited
(BEZEREAFRAT) and an executive director of Shenzhen
Nengzhihui Investment Co., Ltd. (&Y 8E 2 BB R A 7). Mr. Zhang
joined Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Power Service Group Co., Ltd.*
(BRASEZBREEEARAT) in June 2002 and he served
successively as the strategic planning director and the deputy manager
of operation and development department. Mr. Zhang then served
as the risk management director of the operation and management
division and the deputy director of the board office of the asset
operations department at CGNPC from April 2006 to June 2009. He
was the chief accountant of China Techenergy Co., Ltd.* (1t FE 4%
ZETIEARAR]) from June 2009 to May 2014, then was designated
as the chief accountant of Liaoning Hongyanhe in May 2014 and he
has been acting this position till January 2018. He was appointed
as the general manager of capital operation department of CGNPC
since October 2017. Mr. Zhang graduated from Wuhan Institute of
Education (Xianning Campus)* (&2 80 &5 205 7 2 ) majored in
Mathematics in 1982 and a master degree in public finance from
Zhongnan University of Economics* (ff FE 8148 A £ (currently known
as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law* (4 & B & BUA K E))
in July 1992. Mr. Zhang holds the Senior Accountant Certificate of the
PRC and has more than 15 years of experience in capital operation.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Qiu Xianhong (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 55, was appointed as an INED
of the Company on 18 August 2011. Mr. Qiu possess the qualification
as a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and a senior accountant
of the PRC. Mr. Qiu also served as a finance controller and the vice
secretary general to China Institute of Strategy and Management,
an independent director of Qinhuangdao Tolian Heavy Industry Co.,
Ltd. (REEXREFBETRMH AR AT (2 company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 002459). Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Qiu was a partner of Beiing QQCPA Accounting
Firm, the deputy head of the financial department and asset
management department of China National Packaging Corporation,
and the deputy director of the financial department of China Patent
Bureau. Mr. Qiu graduated with a bachelor degree in financial
accounting from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics*(/T
PREF4E K E2). Mr. Qiu has over 30 years of experience in financial
accounting, financial management and auditing.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 71, was appointed as an INED
of the Company on 22 August 2014. Mr. Gao also serves as an
independent non-executive director of CITIC Resources Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code 01205). Mr. Gao was a deputy director of C & C Law
Office in Beijing, a leading law firm in China, between 1984 and 1993.
Mr. Gao became a partner of Clifford Chance, a leading international
law firm, between 1993 and 2007. Following his retirement in 2007, he
became a PRC legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong Kong office.
Mr. Gao has extensive and diversified experience in a broad area of
legal practices, including banking and finance, direct investment (both
inbound and outbound from the perspective of the PRC) in the areas
of energy, natural resource and petrochemical projects. Mr. Gao has
been involved in the development of nuclear power projects since
1985, including the development of Daya Bay nuclear power project,
the incorporation of the operating company for Daya Bay and Lingao
nuclear power plants and the development of the Taishan nuclear
power project (applying third generation technology). Mr. Gao holds a
LLM degree from the Law School of University of California, Berkeley.
He has been admitted to practice law in the PRC since 1984.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis (“Mr. Lee”), aged 50, was appointed
as an INED of the Company in August 2014. Mr. Lee has been a
certified practising accountant of the CPA Australia since 1996 and
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 1999. He has possessed over 25 years of
experience with unlisted groups, listed groups and professional firms in
finance, accounting and auditing. Mr. Lee is currently an independent
non-executive director of Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code 08292),
Windmill Group Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange with stock code 08409) and China Singyes New Materials
Holdings Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock
code 08073). Mr. Lee graduated with a bachelor of economics degree
from Macquarie University in Australia in 1992.

BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”), aged 51, is currently the general
counsel and joint company secretary of the Company and serving as
the general counsel and secretary of board of directors of CGNPC-
URC. Ms. Zheng has served as the project manager of the Hong Kong
High Technology Development Management Company Limited* (&
EERHEEREIERR A ). She jointed CGNPC in March 1999 and
subsequently worked in the finance department and development
planning department. Ms. Zheng served as the manager of planning
and finance department, financial representative and secretary of
the Board of Galaxy Captek Co., Ltd.* Gt R AIEFIT RS
fR/AR], a subsidiary of CGN Group) from October 2002 to August
2006. She served as the director of investment and legal department
of CGNPC-URC from August 2006 to October 2010 and was re-
designated to general councel and secretary of board of directors of
CGNPC-URC from October 2010 to now . Ms. Zheng graduated from
Zhejiang University with a bachelor of engineering degree in industrial
automation in 1988 and obtained a master of science degree in
science and technology information from China Defense Science and
Technology Information Center in 1992. Ms. Zheng possesses the
qualification certificate for accounting of the PRC and the Enterprise
Legal Adviser Qualification Certificate of the PRC* (H B (b 2% 12 Ea
#HEEHK). Ms. Zheng has 21 years of experience in project investment
and financial management, 16 years of experience in corporate
governance and 11 years of experience in management of legal affairs.
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Mr. He Fei (“Mr. He”), aged 41, is currently the vice president of the
Company and serving as the vice general manager of CGNPC-URC
and the director of CGNM UK Ltd. (the wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company). Prior to joining the Company, Mr. He held a position in
the department of international cooperation of the State Commission
of Science, Technology and Industry for National Defence, and was
then appointed to the French Atomic Energy Commission; and served
successively as the secretary of the general manager department
of the general office, secretary to the chairman of the board of the
secretariat, senior manager for business of Beijing business unit and
director of the business liaison office of the general office of CGNPC.
Mr. He graduated from the International Relations College with a
bachelor of arts degree in English in 2000 and obtained a master of law
degree in civil and commercial law from Renmin University of China in
2009. Mr. He has worked in the nuclear power industry for an extensive
period and developed extensive understanding of the domestic
and international nuclear power industry, and has rich corporate
management experience.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance practices

The Company’s corporate governance policy follows all code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report, except for the deviation from the code provisions disclosed
below.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that, the independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors, as equal board
members, should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.

Except Mr. Zhou Zhenxing, Mr. Xing Jianhua, Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr.
Gao Pei Ji, and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis, other Directors were unable
to attend annual general meeting held on 9 June 2017 (the “2017
AGM”) due to other business engagement.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standards of
securities transactions for the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31
December 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board currently comprises 8 directors, including 2 EDs, 3
NEDs and 3 INEDs. The composition of the Board is based on a
comprehensive consideration of the Directors’ professional skills,
working background and qualification. It shows the differentiated and
diverse arrangement of Directors. As at the date of this report, the
members of the Board are as follows:
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Remuneration Audit Nomination
Committee = Committee = Committee

Directors FMZEER EREER REZER
EDs HITES
Mr. An Junjing (chief executive officer) ~ RE W54 (EEHTE) M M
Mr. Chen Deshao PRIZABST A
NEDs FHITES
Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman) REFRE(ERE) M C
Mr. Fang Chunfa FEELE M
Mr. Zhang Chengbai SRAEGH ST
INEDs BAFHITES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong BB st e C C M
Mr. Gao Pei Ji EIEELE M M
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis FERELE M M M

C - Chairman of the relevant Board committees C-EHEZZEENERF

M — Member of the relevant Board committees M-EHEEZEGHKE
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The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
“Biographies of Directors” of the annual report.

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and policy
of the Group and ensures there are sufficient capital and management
resources for the implementation of relevant strategies and the
completeness of the financial and internal control systems, and the
compliance of business operation with relevant legal requirements. Al
members of the Board have fulfilled their duties and acts in the best
interest of the Group and Shareholders. Unless otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, to the knowledge of the Company, there was
no financial, business, family and other material/related relationship
among members of the Board.

All Directors should comply with rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at all
times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have major interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted as in the quorum and voting
at the meeting. The Director shall not be present during the discussion
on related matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association and
the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required to retire
from office by rotation once every three years. The Board complies
with rules 3.10 (1) & (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in relation to the
appointment of at least three INEDs, which represents at least one-
third of the Board, and one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management expertise.

In accordance with the requirements of code provision C.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code, the Directors have conducted a review
of the overall effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group
and concluded that all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management are effective.
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Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision authority of the Company, the Board takes charge of

the corporate governance function. The major responsibilities of the

Board include the tasks stated below. The Board may delegate the

responsibilities to other committees as it thinks fit:

@)

to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation
to the Company’s internal control, succession plans,
remuneration and compensation for Directors and employees,
risk management, corporate governance and corporate social
responsibility, and to supervise the implementation of such
policies conducted by the Company’s management;
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(h) investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and

(i) to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its
obligations and responsibilities.

Major work performed by the Board as regards the corporate
governance function during the year 2017 includes:

1. reviewing the “Internal Control Evaluation Report” of 2016;

2. reviewing and approving the internal audit plan of 2017;

3. reviewing and approving the adjustment proposal of Directors’
remuneration;

4. considering major matters in relation to major transactions and/

or connected transactions;

5. reviewing the Model Code for securities trading that Directors
are subject to; and

0. reviewing and accepting the independence of INEDs.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman and the chief executive officer, are
required to retire from office by rotation once every three years and are
subject to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting
in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Articles of Association provides details in
relation to the procedures of election and appointment of the Directors.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any further re-appointment
of an INED who has served the Board for more than 9 years will be
subject to separate resolution to be approved on general meeting.

Besides, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association, Directors
appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next
general meeting after their appointment, and shall be subject to re-
election by general meetings.
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All Directors will enter into a director service contract with the Company
immediately after their appointment for a term of two years and subject
to retirement and re-election of at least once every three years. The
contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations of Directors.
All Directors understand they have joint responsibility towards all
Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and development of
the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’ duties according
to the director service contract and relevant laws and regulations. Al
Directors confirm that they provide sufficient time and effort in company
affairs, express their views cautiously and diligently and fulfill their
Directors’ duties.

Directors’ Interests

As recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of part XV of the SFO, none of the Directors held any shares of the
Company or associated companies as at 31 December 2017.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package related
to the laws in relation to directors of a listed company and their duties,
which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5, directors should participate in
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.
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In 2017, a summary of training taken by the Directors is set out as

follows:

R2017 % - EF2EIFIBERAT

Type of
training

Directors EHEE

EDs HTES

Mr. An Junjing (appointed on 25 January 2018) REIFL A (R2018F 1 A 25 AEZ ) N/ATE

Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed on 25 January 2018) PRIZARST A (R 201841 A 25 HEZR(T) N/ANE A

Mr. Xing Jianhua (resigned on 25 January 2018) FErERE (201841 A 25 HEHT) a

NEDs FHITES

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (resigned on 25 January 2018) FERE S A (2018 F 1 B 25 HEHT) a

Mr. Yu Zhiping (re-designated as a NED on 25 January 2018)  £&EF 54 (R 20184 1 B 25 BREEHITES) a

Mr. Fang Chunfa Wk =yt a

Mr. Zhang Chengpbai (appointed on 28 November 2017) SRAEMEA (2017 F 11 A28 AEZMT) b

Mr. Wu Junfeng (resigned on 28 November 2017) REESE (R 2018F 11 A28 HEHE) b

Mr. Liu Mingdong (resigned on 4 December 2017) ZIRAER (R 2017 F12 A4 BEHMT) b

INEDs BIFHTES

Mr. Qiu Xianhong St 4 a

Mr. Gao Pei Ji IBELE

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis ZREIR T E a

a. attending training seminars in person/via video; on 26 October 2017, a. R ARSES ISR - RARIR 2017 F

the Company held a training session for Directors, which covered the
pricing of natural uranium and the trend analysis.

b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the
Directors’ duties and obligations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
should be in charge by different persons. During the Reporting Period,
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of
the Company were held by Mr. Zhou Zhenxing and Mr. Yu Zhiping,
respectively. As Mr. Zhou Zhenxing retired due to reaching the
retirement age, since 25 January 2018, the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Company have been held by
Mr. Yu Zhiping and Mr. An Junjing, respectively. They are responsible
for ensuring that the Board is functioning properly, with good corporate
governance practices and procedures, whereas the chief executive
officer, supported by the management, is responsible for managing the
Group’s businesses, including the implementation of major strategies
and measures adopted by the Board.
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NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of them possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on
the expertise and experience of each of the Director, the Directors
provide independent judgment and advice on the Company’s
management. The number of NEDs representing more than half of
the Board members, which helps the Company to make objective
and independent judgment and decision. The advice of NEDs shall be
considered as major advice, in case where the conflicts of interest of
related matters arises. The fixed initial term for NEDs is 2 years, and
thereafter, the service agreement shall continue unless terminated by
the Company or NED himself in writing pursuant to the relevant terms
in the Director’s service agreement.

Each INED has made an annual confirmation of independence in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that, all INEDs meet the independent guidelines as set out in rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, and that they are independent.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”) has been appointed as joint company
secretary since 1 June 2014. In the meantime, in accordance with
the requirement of the Listing Rules, the Company appointed Ms. Lai
Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”) of TMF Hong Kong Limited, as the joint company
secretary, to assist the work of Ms. Zheng. The role of the company
secretary is to support the chairman of the Board, the Board and
relevant committees, to ensure smooth communications and timely
transmission of information. At the same time, the company secretary
plays an important role such as to ensure the Board meetings
are convened in accordance with laws and regulations, and the
Board’s decisions are executed correctly. The company secretary
is an important communication bridge between the Company and
Shareholders, it also assists the Board to perform the responsibility to
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Zheng and
Ms. Lai have received no less than 15 hours professional training for the
year ended 31 December 2017.
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BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least 4 regular Board meetings held every year, and
a special Board meeting is convened when necessary. In addition
to acting by written resolutions, Directors participated in the
meetings either in person, by proxy or through electronic means of
communications. Board members have full access to the business
development of the Company at the meetings at regular interval.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given to all
Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters in the agenda
for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying board papers
were sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there were altogether four
(4) Board meetings held by the Company. The attendance of each
Director at the Board meeting and relevant committee meetings are as
follows:

EZERFREBLERR

ExeEFE)AMARENESTS SR
ERBERAREEEZTERH - [REB
EEARRZERERI EETEBRE
HERXZERREFEIUNEFBAL XS
e EEENBEAREHR LLEMEE
BERRERBERAMNDM

FrEEHESEERICAMBEESHD
ROVABRBEA - BEEERSEZRIET
AR AT o RERAHE AR
MEEEXHNEAGFANRL 3 HEX
EfRES -

REZE2017F12 A31 HILFE - KAF]
HERANANNESS  SESHFESS
EMABEEESSHMBROT ¢

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Board

Position Meeting

B Exg

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing Chairman of the Board and NED and chairman 4/4
(resigned on 25 January 2018) of the nomination committee

BiRELE
(20184 1 A 25 BREHE)

ESTQIRRFUTES REZBEIR

Mr. Yu Zhiping (re-designated ED and member of the nomination committee 3/4
as a NED, chairman of both

the Board and nomination

and remuneration committee

committee on 25 January 2018,
and continues to act as a member
of remuneration committeg)
RETRE(R2018F1 A25H
AEFHTEE EFEIR
REZEELR - WAELE
FMZREZR)

HiTEZE RUZEEZR FMZEEZE
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE, ERETAH

Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination

Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee

R Eze ENZEE yMzEg REZEE

Mr. An Junjing (appointed asan ED ~ N/A N/A N/A N/A
and member of both nomination ~ NEH TER TNER TER

committee and remuneration

committee on 25 January 2018)
REBAE(R201851 A25H

BZInhiTes REZEE

ZERFMEREZR)
Mr. Xing Jianhua ED and member of the remuneration committee 4/4 212
(resigned on 25 January 2018)
FRERL B78% HMZEEZ8
(201851 A 25 AEHE)
Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed as N/A N/A
an ED on 25 January 2018) TER TER
RERSAE (R201851 A25H
BZERHTES)
Mr. Wu Junfeng NED 1/4
(resigned on 28 November 2017)
REEBRE FHTES
(2017511 A28 HEHT)
Mr. Fang Chunfa NED and member of the audit committee 2/4 0/5
REERE HNTES BNEERZE
Mr. Liu Mingdong NED 1/4
(resigned on 4 December 2017)
F\REE HYTES
(2017512 A4 RE)
Mr. Zhang Chengbai NED 0n
(appointed on 28 November 2017)
REMEE HNITES
(120174 11 A28 HEZAT)
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERY/ ERETRY
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee
B Eze ENZEE FHEES REZEE
Mr. Qiu Xianhong INED, chairman of both the audit committee and 4/4 5/5 212 212
the remuneration committee and member of
the nomination committee
Bt BUFHTES BREEEIR

FHREeIRRRAZESZRE

Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of both the remuneration committee 4/4 212 212
and the nomination committee

REELE BUFHTES FMEEEZERREZAEZE

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis INED, member of the audit committee, the remuneration ~ 4/4 5/5 212 2/2
committee and the nomination committee

FEREE BUFHTEE EREEEZE

FHREEZEARRAZEERE

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial BEEBRRRNBESGEEN N EE
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter would be considered and = BREESNERFAETERE
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by o MIEAEERZEIE - TMFEEAF
written resolution. Other Directors and INEDs with no material conflict mEENHEMES RB L IERITEEEY
of interest would be present at meetings dealing with such confiict. FERAEESEE -

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability NEIE R EEEA e g MRAERITENE
insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors. HENEEZRSREEABRERBIRR
e
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DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business

management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates matters

reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved matters
include, among other things:

1.

the business development and planning;

corporate policies;

financial planning;

investment planning;

annual budget;

major disposals and acquisitions;

major connected transactions;

appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior
management; and

other significant operational and financial matters.
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AHE

In addition to work relating to corporate governance function, other

major work performed by the Board during the year ended 31

December 2017 includes:

1.

10.

11.

approving the 2017 business plan and budget planning;

approving the Directors’ report, audited financial statements
and auditor’s report for the year ended 31 December 2016;

approving the unaudited interim results for the period ended 30
June 2017;

considering the payment of dividend for the year ended 31
December 2016;

considering the non-payment of dividend for the interim period
as at 30 June 2017;

proposing the re-election of Directors and the authority of the
Board to fix the remuneration of the Directors to be approved
at the 2017 AGM,;

proposing the share issue and repurchase general mandate to
be approved at the 2017 AGM,;

proposing the re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited as the auditors of the Company and the authority of
the Board to fix the auditor remuneration to be approved at the
2017 AGM,;

approving the Domestic Financial Service Framework Agreement
entered into between the Company and CGN Financial;

approving the resignation of Mr. Wu Junfeng as a NED and the
appointment of Mr. Zhang Chengbai as a NED; and

approving the third supplemental deed under the Previous
Share Subscription Agreement in respect of the previous Vital
Group.
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The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is delegated
to the senior management. Certain authorities are also granted to
relevant Board committee, the granted authorities and responsibilities
are reviewed by the Board from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board of the Company,
which are audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, respectively, with its terms of reference established. Each
specific committee performs on specific area, provides comments and
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company is delegated by the Board to
exercise its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee of the Company
comprised a NED, namely Mr. Fang Chunfa, and two INEDs, namely
Mr. Qiu Xianhong (Chairman) and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the audit committee is basically to assist the Board in
providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems
of the Group, and oversee the audit process. The audit committee
also serves as a focal point for communication, among Directors, the
external auditors, and the management as regards financial reporting,
internal control and the auditing.

Major work performed by the audit committee during the year ended
31 December 2017 includes:

1. assessing the independence and objectivity of external
auditors;
2. reviewing the internal control and risk management systems of

the Company;

3. reviewing the audited annual results for the year ended 31
December 2016; and

4. reviewing the unaudited interim results for the period ended 30
June 2017.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
audit committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration committee of the
Company comprised two EDs, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping and Mr. Xing
Jianhua, and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong (chairman),
Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis. Due to the change of
Directors, the remuneration committee of the Company comprised a
NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping, an ED, namely Mr. An Junjing and three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong (chairman), Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr.
Lee Kwok Tung Louis since 25 January 2018.

The function of the remuneration committee is basically to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
of all remuneration of EDs, NEDs and senior management and review
the remuneration packages of the EDs and senior management with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives.

Major work performed by the remuneration committee during the year
ended 31 December 2017 includes:

1. reviewing the management’s remuneration packages for the
year 2017, with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
formulated by the Board; and

2. making recommendations to the Board as to the adjustment
proposal of Directors’ remuneration for the year 2017.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
(excluding the Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December
2017 is set out below:
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Remuneration band (HK$)

HrEfEE Géc)

Dessagp s

Number of individuals

0 — 1,000,000
1,000,001 — 1,500,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid individuals are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

During the Reporting Period, the nomination committee comprised a
NED, namely Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (chairman), an ED, namely Mr. Yu
Zhiping and three INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji
and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis. Due to the change of Directors, the
nomination committee of the Company comprised a NED, namely Mr.
Yu Zhiping (Chairman), an ED, namely Mr. An Junjing and three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung
Louis since 25 January 2018.

The function of the nomination committee is basically to review and
formulate the nomination procedure as regards the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of Directors; review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and make recommendations or
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the corporate
strategy; and make recommendation to the Board on candidates for
appointment as Directors. The nomination committee follows rigorous
selection procedure in choosing the right person as a member of the
Board. Various criteria such as appropriate professional knowledge,
experience, skills and possible contribution of the candidate will be
considered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017, major work performed by the
nomination committee includes:

1. reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

2. reviewing the terms of reference of the nomination committee
and their effectiveness in the discharge of their duties and
considering the need for any changes;

3. making recommendations to the Board as to nomination of
directors for re-election at the 2017 AGM,;

4. making recommendations to the Board as to the change of the
Board and Board committee members;

5. making recommendations to the Board as to the re-designation
of Directors; and

6. assessing the independence of INEDs.

Board Diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”. The Company
recognises the merits of Board diversity and sees the edge of
Board diversity in driving competitiveness. In making up the Board’s
composition, the Board considers various skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other attributes of the Board
members. All Board appointments are based on the talent, skill and
experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as to meet
the operational needs.
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Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest. The
management of the Company at each level assesses and reports
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system by
performing reviews. Internal control department reports to the audit
committee once a year on key findings regarding internal controls.
Audit committee, in turn, communicates any material issues regarding
internal control system to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the audit committee
conducted a review on the effectiveness of the internal control system,
and no serious deficiencies were identified. Therefore, the Board
considered that the internal control systems of the Group are effective,
and complied with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the HKFRSs have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The Board is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited acknowledged
its reporting responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance
Code. The auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent
auditor’s report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration paid by the
Company to the auditor, Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, is set
out as follows:

Services rendered Fri it BR 7%
Audit services ENZIRT
Non-audit services IEEZARTE

The significant amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose from
interim review service, consultant services for continuing connected
transaction and consultant services for acquisition projects.

SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
status and effective exercise of their own rights, the Company
convenes general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles
of Association. During the Reporting Period, one (1) general meeting
were held, namely the annual general meeting held on 9 June 2017.
The attendance of each Director at the annual general meeting is set
out as follows:

BB AT &

HE2017F12 A1 BILEEE - AREIX
MG ZER KPR (BS) A E 45T
BRARMMEEHYOT

Fees paid/payable
B ENNER

(HK$’000)
(F#&x)
1,330
345
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Number of meetings attended/

Number of meetings held

HERE, SEETRY

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (resigned on 25 January 2018) EHRE S A (R 20186 1 A 25 HEHE) 1/1
Mr. Yu Zhiping RETEE 0/1
Mr. An Junjing (appointed on 25 January 2018) ZEIELE(R2018F 1 A 25 HEZRAT) N/A T3
Mr. Xing Jianhua (resigned on 25 January 2018) EREELA (R20185 1 B25 HEHMT) 11
Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed on 25 January 2018) PREEFBEA (20186 1 B 25 HEZRT) N/ATNE B
Mr. Wu Junfeng (resigned on 28 November 2017) SEIERL (2017511 A28 BEHT) 0/1
Mr. Fang Chunfa FEERRE 01
Mr. Liu Mingdong (resigned on 4 December 2017) ZIRFE A (R2017 12 A4 HEE) 0/1

Mr. Zhang Chengbai (appointed on 28 November 2017)  3REIASEA (72017 4 11 A 28 BEE(E)

Mr. Qiu Xianhong RSt 4
Mr. Gao Pei Ji EIEESAE
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis TEREAE
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, on the requisition
of one or more Shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up share capital of the
Company having the right to vote at general meetings, the directors are
obliged to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and deposited at the registered office of the Company
in Cayman Islands and/or the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the purposes of
the meeting and sign the requisition letter.

If the Directors do not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the joint company
secretary, Ms. Zheng Xiaowei, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Rm 19083, 19/F., China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031

3. By email: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Voting by poll

Pursuant to rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and article 72 of the Articles
of Association, any votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll, except where the chairman decides to allow a
resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter
to be voted by a show of hands.
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Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholder of
the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a
right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or ii) not
less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the expense of the
requisitionists:

a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the joint company secretary not less than 6 weeks before
the general meeting, and in case of a requisition requires notice of a
resolution, or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any
other requisition.

Change in Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there is no significant
change in constitutional documents of the Company.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

During the Reporting Period, the Company has initially established a
relatively comprehensive risk management system. With reference to
relevant risk management requirements of the “Risk Management —
Principles and Guidelines” of ISO31000:2009 standard and the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company effectively identified,
tracked and controlled the risks. It also strictly facilitated the
Comprehensive Risk Management Policy. Meanwhile, the Company
classified the overall risk business into four levels, namely major
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operating risk, non-investment specific risk, project investment risk
and general risk, and established different management process for
those risks separately. The Board, management, the risk management
department and relevant business departments were responsible
for their relevant duties within risk management and reviewed on the
implementation of risk management to ensure the efficient operation of
the system.

Internal audit

During the Reporting Period, according to the internal audit plan
approved by the Board, the audit department carried out a series of
audit work including: capital management audit, connected transaction
management audit, risk management evaluation and internal control
evaluation.Through the above audit programs, the department
identified 11 audit problems, proposed 11 audit recommendations
and launched 7 reforming plans. Through regularly implementing
specific audit measures and regularly providing management advice
to the Board, the Company is able to prevent from and control the
potential risks in relevant sectors and its management, also, shows
its effectiveness of internal audit in risk prevention and internal control
refining, which ensures that the Company’s operation complies with
laws and regulations.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information as set out in the information disclosure policy which
contains the detailed procedures to ensure that inside information
could be identified timely and remain confidential until the disclosure of
such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of
such information is effectively and consistently made.

HUMAN CAPITAL

We have built up an excellent team of management and professional
talents, with the guidance and value of treasuring, caring for and
optimizing talents to support the sustainable development of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 25 employees, 15 of these
employees were located in China, 6 in Hong Kong, 3 in Kazakhstan
and 1 in Canada. For further information about staff remuneration,
please refer to the relevant contents in notes 15 and 16 of the
consolidated financial statements.
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Professional qualifications

In the current workforce, 73% employees have intermediate
professional qualification or above.

Employment Mechanism
Path of development

The Company respects growth and career development of each
employee. The Company has set two paths of career development,
namely the management and the professional technology path, and
has established the switch mechanism between the two paths. Staff
can freely choose from the two career development paths and show
their talents. Meanwhile, the Company provides guidance to staff to set
up their personal career development plan, so as to help them to make
rapid career growth.

Internal talent market

For better use of the ability and expertise of each employee, the
Company established the internal talent market. The vacancies of
the Company will be filled by internal talents firstly, through which
the aspiration of individual employees can be better realized and the
optimized allocation of internal human resources is achieved, thus
to accomplish the common improvement of both the Company and
employees.

Evaluation System

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives could be effectively
implemented, we have established a both incentive and restraint
mechanism for staff appraisal, and tends to guide employees’
conducts by way of continuous communication, feedback and
improvement. In addition, the Company established a complete
performance management system by following the steps of
communication, coaching, tracking and assessment during the
formation and implementation of the performance plan, so as to reach
the expected performance results, and promotes the co-development
of the Company and staff.
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Cultivating talents

Adhering the core idea of “to cultivate talents, not only to train talents”,
the Company incorporated international experience in talent cultivation
and combined its own characteristics. Then it formed an effective
autonomous talent cultivation system with authorized employment,
training for entire staff and lifelong education as basic principles, and
formulated key position cultivation rolling plan and supportive system.

Training resources

In close combination with business needs, and giving full play to
our advantages, the Company has established a comprehensive
training resources system for all the staff, covering management
personnel, professional technicians and international talent reservation.
Meanwhile, utilizing abundant teaching resources of CGN Group
and sharing thousands of online courses within the CGN Group, it’s
available for staff to conduct self-learning and on-the-job training
whenever needed, which effectively satisfies the rapid development
and the need for talents of the Company.

Remuneration system

Combined with the characteristics of the industry, the Company
constructed a competitive remuneration system which appeals to
quality talents and motivates employees effectively. The remuneration
system reflects the value of positions and individual contribution
and encourages long-term service of employees, jointly striving for
continuous growth and sustainable development of the Company and
sharing the results of corporate development. Remuneration is mainly
composed of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time pay,
allowance and subsidy and benefits.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company and principally
engaged in development and trading of natural uranium. The principal
businesses of our subsidiaries include trading and investments of
natural uranium. An analysis of the Group’s business for the year is set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located in Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2017 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 106 and 107 of the annual report.

The Board recommended a payment of final cash dividend of HKO.2
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 to Shareholders
as of the record date for payment of dividend on 20 June 2018
(Wednesday). The ratio of final dividend distribution for the year is
based on the various factors such as business performance in 2017
and subject to not less than 20% of distributable profits of continuing
business (the year ended 31 December 2016: HK2 cents per share).

ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2017 and
its analysis are set out in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” to this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the Reporting Period, the
Group’s exposure to potential risks and uncertainties, significant
events after Reporting Period, business prospects, financial
performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group are set out in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” to this annual report.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period
are set out on pages 110 and 111 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 17 and 18 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2017, there are no outstanding convertible bonds
of the Company. Details of the convertible bonds are set out in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, Directors
of the Company are as followed:

EDs

Mr. An Junjing (Chief Executive Officer, appointed on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Chen Deshao (appointed on 25 January 2018)
Mr. Xing Jianhua (resigned on 25 January 2018)

NEDs

Mr. Yu Zhiping (Chairman, and re-designated from an ED to an NED
on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Fang Chunfa

Mr. Zhang Chengbai (appointed on 28 November 2017)

Mr. Zhou Zhenxing (resigned on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Liu Mingdong (resigned on 4 December 2017)

INEDs

Mr. Qiu Xianhong
Mr. Gao Pei Ji
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such general
meeting. On 28 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Chengbai was appointed
as a NED, and Mr. An Junjing and Mr. Chen Deshao were appointed as
EDs on 25 January 2018. All of them are eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yu
Zhiping, Mr. Fang Chunfa and Mr. Qiu Xianhong will retire from office
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation), in respect of all Directors who are proposed and
offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENT

No contract, transactions and arrangement of significance to which
the Company, any of its holding companies, or any of subsidiaries of
the above-mentioned companies was a party, in which a Director of
the Company had a material interest, subsisted during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 34 and
40 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2017
amounted to approximately HK$690 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

None of the Company or its subsidiaries redeemed any of its shares
during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year ended
31 December 2017.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “2010 Share
Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 2 June 2010. After the adoption of the 2010 Share Option Scheme,
no share option was granted.

The 2010 Share Option Scheme

The following disclosure is a summary of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme as required by chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

(1) Purpose:

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to eligible participants (as defined
below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

) Participants:

The eligible participants of the 2010 Share Option Scheme to
whom option(s) may be granted by the Board shall include any
employees, NEDs, Directors, suppliers, customers, advisors,
consultants, joint venture partners and any shareholders of any
members of the Group or any invested entities or any holders
of any securities issued by any members of the Group or any
invested entities.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the 2010 Share
Option Scheme and percentage of issued share capital at the
date of approval of the share option scheme:

The number of shares which can be issued is 155,105,699
shares representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the 2010
Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including exercised, canceled and outstanding options) to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not
exceed one percent (1%) of the then total issued share capital
of the Company.

The periods within which the shares must be taken up under an
option:

An option shall be exercisable in whole or in part and in
accordance with the terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each grantee, which period may commence on
the day on which the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than ten (10) years commencing
from the date the Board makes an offer of the grant of an option
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised:

Unless the Directors otherwise determine and state in the offer
of the grant of options to an eligible participant, there is no
minimum period for which an option granted under the 2010
Share Option Scheme must be held before it can be exercised.
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The amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
and the period within which payments of calls must or may be
made or loans for such purpose must be paid:

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible
participant within twenty-eight (28) days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

Subject to the adjustment made in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price in respect
of any particular option shall be such price as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion at the time of making the offer of
grant of an option (which shall be stated in the letter containing
the offer of grant of an option) but in any case the exercise price
must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a trading day;
(i) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The remaining life:

The 2010 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 2 June 2010 and has a remaining
life of approximately 2 years and 3 months as at the date of this
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 15 and

16 of the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.cgnmc.com
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©
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(a)

(b)

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in the
part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and
8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required pursuant to the Model Code
contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders’ interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2017, according to the register of
substantial Shareholders kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to, or can
be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors,
the following persons/entities, other than a Director or chief
executives of the Company, had an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Name of Shareholder

RRER

China Uranium Development (Note 1)

PRI R (M)

CGNPC - URC (Notes 1 &2)
FREZBERR (1 Rk2)

CGNPC (Notes 1 & 2)
PEEEELE (1 Rk2)

Hong Kong Xinmao

BEEK

Hainan Mining (Note 3)
BEEE (M3)

Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment

Co., Ltd
PEERESREBRAR

Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)

Co., Ltd.
LEEERHE (B BRATF

Fosun International Limited
BEBEBRERAF

Fosun Holdings Limited
BEERERRA

Fosun International Holdings. Ltd.
EERRERERAR

Guo Guangchang
BEE

Hainan Haigang Group Co., Ltd.
BEEHEEARAR

State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of
Hainan Province

BHEBREREELREEEREE

Capacity
L)

Beneficial owner

ExfAA

Interest in a controlled corporation
XEEERR

Interest in a controlled corporation

RpZEER

Beneficial owner

EafiBA

Interest in a controlled corporation

R EEER
Interest in a controlled corporation
R EEER
Interest in a controlled corporation
R rERR

Interest in a controlled corporation

REEEER

Interest in a controlled corporation
AR

Interest in a controlled corporation
REEERER

Interest in a controlled corporation
R rERER

Interest in a controlled corporation
RErERER

Interest in a controlled corporation

REpAEES

Directors’ Report

Number of
shares

RB®AE
4,323,695,652 (L)

4,303,695,652 (L)

4,323,695,652 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

659,400,000 (L)

EEEHE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
REHAR DL

65.50% (L)

65.50% (L)

65.50% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)

9.99% (L)

9.99% (1)
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Notes:

1. The long position represents (i) the 4,278,695,652 Shares
held by China Uranium Development; and (i) the 45,000,000
shares charged by Perfect Develop Holding Inc. (established
by the Directors of the preceding controlling shareholders
of the Company) in favor of China Uranium Development,
pursuant to the share charge dated 1 April 2011 (the “Charged
Shares”), 35,000,000 Charged Shares will be released upon
the completion of relevant preconditions pursuant to the
announcement of the Company dated 11 December 2017).

2. CGNPC-URC holds 100% of the issued share capital of
China Uranium Development. CGNPC holds 100% of the
equity interests of CGNPC-URC. Therefore, it is deemed to be
interested in the interest held by China Uranium Development.

3. According to the information available on the Stock Exchange
website, Hainan Mining is the sole shareholder of Hong Kong
Xinmao, and is indirectly held as to 35% by Hainan Haigang
Group Co., Ltd. and 54% by Shanghai Fosun High Technology
(Group) Co., Ltd., respectively.

4. The letter “L” denotes the person’s/entity’s long position in the
shares.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as at 31 December 2017 who had an interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company, or any of
its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangement enables the Directors or chief executives
of the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following continuing connected
transactions with the connected persons as defined in the Listing
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with the
agreed terms. The execution of the continuing connected transactions
for the year 2017 are set out as below.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
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accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. E

Annual cap, actual

Name of agreement, Transaction ~ Connected transaction/maximum
date and existing term partiesof  transaction Nature of transaction balances
fi@gE  BE theGroup  parties and description Pricing basis EELR EBRG/
RRRHR KRERGE  BERAMS RARERER ERER BRGE
1 TheNew Netural Uranium Sdles ~ The Company ~ CGNPC-URCand ~ Thesale of natural uranium  the price per pound of natural ranium shal be determined with reference to HKS 752,000,000/
Framework Agreement” was fswhol-omned 1o CGNPC-URCandits  the artthmeic average prces of the long-term price index published by UG HK$370,720,151
entered into on 6 December 2016, Subsidries wholl-owned subsiclaries - and Trade Tech in the second month prior to the delivery month, subject to
wiha term from 1 January 2017 o by the Group afloor price and a celing price.
31 December 2019
RMMBEERBINOG #00  SRUSEORRE ASBASRAMTOR RAMSREMSSIUCKTTenHARHE-EANEER  TNMNNER/
ENRGRIT BRE a17% SENED  UEBERESENE REBNSETHE ERENERREEC. 0517
1A1BE19E 12431 A 27
2 The New ‘Financial Senice The Company ~ CGNPCHuasheng ~ The Group may place ~ The Interest payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the Company shall be equal 1SD220,000,000/
Framework Agreement'ves —— andit deposisinOGNPG—to.or igher than (1) the relevant iterest rate ofered by CGNPC Huasheng USD140,916,168
epteredimoonGDecembeerEi, subsiciery Huasheng and gain o other members of the OGN Group in simlar arrangement; and (2) the
wiha term from 1 January 2017 to N " . ‘
31 Decerrber 2010 nterestincome, CGNPC  dleposits interest rate as announced by other independent commercia
Huasheng provides banks in Hong Kong from time to time in simier amangement.
setflement senice and
grantsloans and facities  Settlement and simiar senvices fees shall be (1) equalto or lower than the
(f necessary) to the setflement and simiar services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to other
Company. members of the OGN Group in setflement senvices amangements; and (2
equal o or lower than the setllement and simiar senvices fees as announced
by other independent commercial banks in Hong Kong from time to time for
setflement and simiar senvices proviced by CGNPC Huasheng.
(FEERBERGEN6E FRAR-B  hENRER REEVERRTENE DRAELNADTNARERTAN P RRE SRR A 2000000£7/
12R6RTT NS 0751 KELA B URRERHEN BHEMETERRELAREINE  ROERLOBUERER 140918 18827
R1BEN19F12431A A HEUERAALT BRARRSAREAE
RtEIRERERRE
RERNRARE.  GERRERBER(S\AENBIE LS RER A RREY
SEET AR EANE GERRRRRER  ROSRAENEE
BURZEAIRIERRY LS RERE AR R RAER
HER-
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Name of agreement, Transaction  Connected
date and existing term parties of transaction Nature of transaction

No. %% R4 theGroup parties and description
5% RERER KEERRE  BERAHR RALERER

3 The‘Domestic Financial Senice  ts subsidiary ~ CGN Financil CGN Financial provides
Framenork Agreement” the Group with domestic
financal senvices in the
PRC, incluaing deposts,
loans, financing and
setflement senvices.

(AR BRHERGE) ~HHELT R TRESHIEALS
BRtEncEREER
RER &5 BER
BERi-

CGN Mining Company Limited
P EZEEAR AT

Pricing basis

i -4

The Interest payable by OGN Financial o the Company shall be equal to or
higher than (1) the nterest rates prescribed by the People’s Bank of China

Annual cap, actual
transaction/maximum
balances

EELR B8RS
50

JSD220,000,000/
USD364,194

for the same type of deposit n the same perod; (2) the depost interest rates  Such annual cap is included n

offerect by Agricultural Bank of China, Bank of China, China Construction
Bank end Industrial and Gommercial Bank of China (the ‘China’s Big-Four
Commercial Banks’) to the service recipient for the same ftype of depost
inthe same period: and (3] the deposit interest rates provided by the CGN
Financial to the OGN Group for the same type of deposttin the same period.

The inferest rates for oans and financing receivable by OGN Financil shel
e equalto or lower than (1) the interest rates prescribed by PBOC for the
same type ofloan in the same period; (2) the loan inferest rates charged by
(China's Big-Four Commercial Banks to the service recipient for the same
type of loan In the same period:; and (3] th loan Interest rates charged by
CGN Financial o the OGN Group for the same type of loan n the same
perod.

The fees charged by GGN Financialfor the provision of setflemen services
shallbe in compliance with the fees standard prescribed by PBOC or the
(China Banking Regulatory Commission in respect of stch senvices. If no
such fees standard is availble, the Service fees shall not higher than (1)
the fees charged by China's Big-Four Commercial Banks or other financial
insttutions in the PR for the same type of financial senvices; and (2) the
fees charged by CGN Financialfor the provision of simiar type of financial
senvices to the CGN Group.
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
3. entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that
these transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions;

3. are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

4, have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in

previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 27 March 2018 which confirms the matters as required by
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, except for above announced continuing
connected transactions, the Company has not carried out other major
transactions and connected transactions needed to be disclosed.
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EEEHE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards, which include
transactions that constitute connected/continuing connected
transactions for which the disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules have been complied with.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during Reporting Period is contained in note 32 to consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Company’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier: 99%
— five largest suppliers: 100%

Sales
— the largest customer: 100%
— five largest customers: 100%

China Uranium Development, the controlling Shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Company. Mr. An Junjing, an ED and the
chief executive officer of the Company, Mr. Chen Deshao, an ED and
the chief financial officer of the Company, Mr. Yu Zhiping, a NED and
chairman of the Company, Mr. Fang Chunfa and Mr. Zhang Chengbai,
NEDs, all are the Directors and/or the senior management of CGNPC-
URC, at different times throughout 2017. Save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted
above.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

In 2017, the Company (as service receiver) and CGNPC-URC entered
into “Shared Administrative Services Agreement” for providing shared
administrative services to the Company by CGNPC-URC.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Environmental Protection

The Company, as a green energy affiliate, pays high attention to
environmental protection. We vigorously promotes environmental
protection by promoting green, energy saving and environmental
protection concept, such as advocating the green office, encouraging
the replacement of paper document with electronic document, the use
of double-sided printing and eco-friendly appliances etc. At the same
time, the Company requests the staff to participate in promotional
activities from time to time, such as tree planting activity, and promotes
the use of public transports, or walking to substitute driving.

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

Details of the social participation are set out in section B8 to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and policy of diversification regardless of
age, sex, marital status.

Compliance with laws and regulations

For the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this
report, to the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all
material aspects with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

In 2017, none of the Directors and their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause any significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or
may have with the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not made any charitable
donations.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As of the Latest Practicable Date prior to the publication of this report,
and based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares are held by public Shareholders as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS

On 28 November 2017, Mr. Wu Junfeng has resigned as the NED
of the Company due to work reallocation, and on the same day, Mr.
Zhang Chengbai has been appointed as the NED of the Company. On
4 December 2017, Mr. Liu Mingdong has resigned as the NED of the
Company due to other work arrangement.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 25 January 2018, Mr. Zhou Zhenxing has retired as a NED, the
chairman of the Board and the nomination committee of the Company
due to reaching the retirement age. On the same day, Mr. Yu Zhiping
has been appointed as a NED, the chairman of the Board and the
nomination committee of the Company and he continues to act as a
member of remuneration committee, but ceased to act as an ED and
chief executive officer. On the same day, Mr. An Junjing has been
appointed as an ED, a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee. On the same day, Mr. Xing Jianhua has
resigned as an ED, a member of the remuneration committee, the vice
president, the chief financial officer, an authorised representative of the
Company for the purpose of rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules and an agent
for service of process in Hong Kong (the “Authorised Representative”)
due to his intention to pursue other business. On the same day, Mr.
Chen Deshao has been appointed as an ED, the chief financial officer
and an Authorised Representative of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Yu Zhiping

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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SCOPE OF REPORT

This annual report covers the operating sites of CGN Mining
Company Limited in Hong Kong and Beijing (hereinafter referred to
as “the Company”), and the operating sites in Kazakhstan, including
Semizbay-U, of which CGN Mining Company Limited holds a 49%
equity interest, as well as the two mines under its management,
Semizbay-U Mine and Irkol Mine (hereinafter referred to as “the Mine”),
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Reporting Period, i.e. fiscal
year 2017 (from 1 January to 31 December 2017), is consistent with
the reporting period of the annual report of CGN Mining Company
Limited. The definitions in this report contain the same meanings as
those used in the aforementioned report.

This report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. It is
the second ESG report prepared by the Company in accordance with
the Guide.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

As a listed company, CGN Mining Company Limited discloses
information regarding business operation and progress of projects as
required by the Listing Rules in the Company’s website (www.cgnmc.
com) and the Stock Exchange’s designated website for information
disclosure (HKEX news: www.hkexnews.hk). All disclosures are
prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, upon receiving inquiries from investors,
the Company will promptly make contact with them, assist them in
understanding the Company’s operation, and answer their questions
by inviting them to visit the Company or through telephone conferences
and other means. The Company will also, from time to time, invite
investor representatives, potential investors and analysts to various
road shows to present performance meetings and Company’s latest
news.
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A ENVIRONMENTAL

A1

Emissions

To address problems such as environmental pollution and
greenhouse effect, the world is turning its eyes to clean
energy development. The Company and the Mine are also
participating in it. We are committed to exploiting natural
uranium resources, which are the main source of fuel for
the nuclear industry. At the same time, environmental
stewardship is being practised in the operation of
the Company and the Mine, with an aim to ensuring
compliance with environmental laws and regulations and
fostering a better environment.

Hazardous wastes generated in production, such as lead-
based batteries and cells, waste oil and used chemical
reagents, are recycled by qualified processing companies
in accordance with local environmental regulations. On
the other hand, to reduce waste generation, the Mine also
separates the non-hazardous wastes such as plastics,
glass and metal for recycling and reuse.

In terms of air emissions, the Mine is currently upgrading
frequently used mechanical equipment and transport
vehicles to replace diesel fuel with natural gas. While
reducing air emissions including SO,, it also lowers diesel
consumption. In addition, the Mine has obtained the air
emission permits issued by the environmental department
of the Kazakhstan government and regularly conducted
the air emission measurements to ensure compliance with
emissions standards.
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Emissions of
NO, suspended SO,
emissions particles emissions

from vehicle from vehicle  from vehicle
use (kg) use (kg) use (kg)
REGREE AREEREE RERREL
HESL MBI MRS
MEEH (k) B (k) B (k)

Mine in Kazakhstan MAiE % BTARESS 4,231 3,201 68
Greenhouse gas Intensity of

emissions in greenhouse gas

total (tCO.¢) emissions

RERBASLHE BERE

(tCO.e) HHBE

Mine in Kazakhstan KER AR, 41,854 36.6 tCO,e/per
ton of production

36.61COe/EEME

Hong Kong and Beijing offices &KL RBAE 22.74 0.9475 tCO,e/staff
0.94751C0e /€S

Intensity of Intensity of

hazardous non-hazardous

waste waste

Total Total generated generated
hazardous non-hazardous (measured (measured
waste waste by per ton by per ton

generated generated of uranium of uranium

(ton) (ton) production) production)
BEREY EEREY
BEEEY EEBRY BEZE EEBE

HE () HE (M) (UBESMWT) (CUAEEM:E)
Mine in Kazakhstan IRER ARG 0.159 2.193 0.00014 0.0019
The Company and the Mine are in strict compliance with QB RS R B ST AERE Y
relevant environmental laws and regulations. During the RRED - MERARER B
Reporting Period, there has been no case of prosecution i R EIRIRIBEA D] iRz
for violation of above. HIMEZE -
86 CGN Mining Company Limited
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A2

Use of Resources

“Caring for the environment and cherishing the earth’s
resources” is our commitment. The Company and the Mine
are rolling out concrete measures on the use of energy,
water and raw materials to maximize resources and energy
efficiency:

° A large sewage recycling system has been
set up, sewage generated in production have
been transported to a bio-processing station
for purification and disinfection, and then used
again in garden irrigation, equipment cleaning and
production. The system could save 10% of industrial
water for the Mine each year;

o Iron-based solid wastes were collected and put in
leaching liquid pools to help extract more natural
uranium, this has reduced waste and increased
output;

o Qualified processing companies were contracted
for recovering, processing and recycling hazardous
wastes such as used oil and drilling fuel;

° In light of the different heating needs for day-time
and night-time, moderately adjust the heating
temperature at different time period to save energy;
and

o We have imposed control on lighting time to reduce
unnecessary electricity consumption.
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Complementarily, the Company and the Mine are
extremely mindful of the importance of education on
environmental protection. We encourage employees to
conserve energy and protect the environment in every
aspect of their work, use less water, electricity, paper and
office supplies, and develop a stronger environmental
awareness.

FEEE KWh)

RERE

Electricity consumption (kWh)
Intensity of electricity
consumption

Water consumption (m°) FEKE (MY
Intensity of water consumption FoKEE

Note: As uranium finished products do not involve finished
packaging, thus no package materials data could be
provided.

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

To minimize the damage caused to the environment and
natural resources, the Company and the Mine are making
robust efforts to promote environmental sustainability
through renewable energy and related technologies. They
include the following:

o To reduce both carbon emission and energy
consumption, solar heat exchangers have been
installed to replace fossil fuels for indoor heating;
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° Photovoltaic power stations have been built to serve
the Mine’s daily lighting needs, which can save 5% of
electricity consumption;

° For mining areas that have been exploited, the
Mine will restore the original ecological environment
through replantation in order to reduce damage
caused; and

° Promoting paperless office and green procurement
and giving priority to energy-saving raw materials
procurement. The Mine is also planning to introduce
an electronic document system to save office paper.

B SOCIAL

B1

Employment

As an employer who promotes equal opportunities and
cares for employee welfare, the Company has established
a recruitment management system based on the
principles of “openness, fairness and merit”. Following
these principles, the Company will only examine whether
the applicants have the ability and qualifications required
for the positions. Complementarily, in order to be more
effective in finding the right candidates for different jobs,
the Company also encourages recommendations from
its current employees. The recommended applicants
must take part in examinations in accordance with the
procedures set out by the Company to ensure fairness in
the recruitment process. On the other hand, in compliance
with the corporate ethic laws enacted by the Kazakhstan
government and the provisions of the employee
management process, the Mine treats all employees under
the principle of fairness and without prejudice to fulfil the
pledge of diversity and anti-discrimination in the workforce.
There will not be any discrimination on employees’ ethic
and cultural background, nor will there be any set out ratio
of male and female staff.
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A competitive package of employee benefits and welfare AETRHEEENEMNGFE
helps the Company to attract and retain talents. The BE BB EWSI RIEE AL o
Company provides employees with medical insurance ARAHBE TIREEZRE
as well as maternity and paternity leave. The Mine also ZTEREELEER Mk
provides holiday expenses and maternity allowances. BERETREBHE RER
Moreover, based on local labour laws, the Mine offers its BRABIFB OB TREE -
employees three years maternity leave and a one-month FHN X @KIRE A EEAR
paid annual leave. To promote work-life balance, sports E - MEIRE=FNERK
games would be organized on a regular basis. —EANEHEBR - RTEE

THEIFEEERZBEEREYF
& WEEEHEBETSH
BEE o

Employee structure of Hong Kong

and Beijing Offices (persons)
EEARILEHAZEETSM(AN)

Total number of employees B T 422§ 24!
Employees by gender RIERIZ > Male Female
ES z
16 8
Employees by age group R FEAEBIEI D 18-30 31-45 46 - 60 > 60
9 13 2 0
1. 3 employees working in Kazakhstan has been counted. 1: 3ENMERIMEATENETE

BEEA -

Monthly Employee Turnover Rate of

Hong Kong and Beijing Offices (%)
ERRLERAES A BT FIRERE (%)

Turnover rate by gender %14 RIZ| 5 Male Female
£ z
0.68 0
Turnover rate by age group IZF#5485E 5 18 - 30 31-45 46 - 60 > 60
0.35 0.33 0 0

Employee Structure of the Mine in Kazakhstan

ERANAREE T oM (A)

Total number of employees B T ##1 547
Employees by gender R RIEI D Male Female
= Z
490 57
Employees by age group 1R #E4ERIZI 5 18 - 30 31-45 46 - 60 > 60
131 254 156 6
90 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Monthly Employee Turnover Rate of
the Mine in Kazakhstan (%)

MERANAREEA BT FIIRAR (%)

Turnover rate by gender &4 RIZ| 5 Male Female
£ z
0.60 0.58
Turnover rate by age group 1ZF #4548 5I2| 5 18 -30 31-45 46 -60 > 60
0.35 0.47 0.30 0.06
The Company and the Mine are in strict compliance with AN B MRS B B ST AR Y
relevant employment laws and regulations. During the EBEED - mEHARERA
Reporting Period, there has been no case of prosecution i R BE(F AR RE A 0 A i
for violation of employment laws and regulations. RI(EZE -
Health and Safety B2 REHEZZE
Safety of employees has always been the priority of the AR RES—BIEEINR
Company and the Mine. In this connection, a safety PHEEM - Bt BT R
management system has been established to ensure ST EREE - Bke
that employees can always work in a safe working BIRARELEHN TIERE
environment. HR{EZE o
Risk assessment of the production areas can effectively HWEERSETZ2RBITE
prevent accidents. The Mine will conduct analysis and BEAMTE BING L - RIS
risk assessment on the working environment to identify SHTERBETHITRER
the processes and areas with risk. We will also take FHEAER G ERRE I
appropriate corrective and preventive measures on REE - WHERERE BN
the operations that fail to meet the internal safety and REMZEMBEEREREN
occupational health regulations. Additionally, in order BRIEHBUEEM A ETER &
to improve safety management of the Mine, a safety Mo UbSN - ARARENEZ S
department has been set up in managing various safety BIRKE - TSGR TLEH
issues. The safety department will conduct weekly safety FIEERSANTZEER - &
inspections on the work place and report on existing 2EFT g B REST TS HAY
risks and corresponding rectification measures. The ZRIRE - WERGFEIER
safety department will also monitor and keep track of the TN ELIENE - B ey
completion status of the rectification measures. PRIE B R FER IR BEAETTES B 2
B -
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The Mine has implemented the following measures to
protect the safety and health of employees:

° Providing sufficient personal protective equipment
which includes safety belts, dust and gas masks and
acid-proof work clothes etc., and strictly required
employees to put on the equipment when entering
the work place;

° Motor vehicle safety inspectors conduct inspections
on the conditions of the mining vehicles and the
health of drivers to ensure driving safety;

° Regular inspections on the operating conditions of
relevant equipments and mining vehicles;

° Providing employees with comprehensive body
check-ups on a yearly basis, keeping track of their
health status, and inviting medical experts to give
health seminars at the mining sites, in order to
enhance employees’s knowledge on health;

° Regularly checking and analysing the concentration
of indoor toxic gases to make sure no harm on
human health; and

o All new employees are required to undergo safety
training and examination. In addition, safety exams
will be arranged every two years.
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Number and rate of work-related fatalities TEBAREMAE TR A B b R 0

Lost days due to work injury ETEmBERNTIERE

The Company and the Mine are in strict compliance with
relevant safety laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, there has been no case of prosecution for violation
of laws and regulations relating to occupational safety.
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Development and Training

Employees are valuable assets of the Company. A
comprehensive and diversified talent training program
can help employees and the Company to grow together.
To facilitate the personal development of employees and
optimise the allocation of human resources, the Company
implements an internal recruitment plan, under which
vacancies will be filled firstly by internal staff applications.
Implementing staff transfer policy can bring out the
implicit qualities of employees. It also ensures them to
familiarize with the Company operations, thus increasing
the Company’s overall efficiency. The Company has
also prepared a staff training plan for new employees to
complete the designated training. In this way, they can
familiarize with their job responsibilities before starting their
work.

On the other hand, the Mine provides employees with
training courses in various aspects in order to equip them
with the professional and language skills required for their
jobs. These courses cover subjects such as engineering
design, instrumentation and software applications, English
and Kazakhstan languages. The Mine continued its
winter and summer camp study programs in 2017, which
enabled employees to acquire knowledge regarding lean
production through a relaxed team learning model. The
program enhanced the professional management skills of
the employees and increased the Company’s operation
efficiency.

Labour Standards

The Company and the Mine pay close attention to the
basic rights and interests of employees, and strictly abide
by the local labour laws and regulations. Our management
guideline is based on the principles of “legality and
compliance” and we make sure no child labour is recruited
and no forced labour.
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The Company’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in order to
ensure a good work-life balance. Separately, the Company
has established the Group’s Labour Management System,
with explicit rules on the requirement of compliance
in accordance with national and local labour laws and
regulations in places we operate. The Company stipulates
that if the employee is found to have provided false
documentation or made false statements about personal
information after signing a labour or employment contract,
the contract signed by the two parties shall be void ab
initio, and the employee will be requested to compensate
the losses incurred by the Company. The Mine also abides
by the provisions of Kazakhstan’s labour law concerning
the prohibition of forced labour, including the prohibition
of servitude, corporal punishment or violence against
employees, and makes appropriate arrangements on their
working hours and workload.

The Company and the Mine are in strict compliance with
relevant labour laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, there has been no case of prosecution for violation
of laws and regulations relating to the prevention of child
labour or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

While committing to environmental protection and
corporate social responsibilities, the Company and
the Mine also actively encourage suppliers and service
contractors to protect the environment and undertake
social responsibilities.

The Mine has established stringent criteria for supplier
selection and performance assessment. The criteria
include supplier’s equipment, reliability of their
technical skills, environmental protection and the safety
scope. Energy consumption of supplier's equipment,
environmental impact of the production process and the
level of reduction in raw material consumption are also
considered. Moreover, equipment safety is also one of the
criteria.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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On the other hand, the Mine also requires suppliers to
provide employees with adequate personal protective
equipment and impose mandatory requirement on the use
of the equipment during work. When selecting suppliers,
the Mine gives priority to those on the list of organizations
that employ persons with disabilities.

Product Responsibility

The quality and safety of products are of vital importance.
The Mine has obtained the certification of the ISO 9001
quality management system which guarantees that the
entire mining process is conducted in accordance with
international standard. In addition, in order to ensure the
quality and reliability of the products provided, sample
analysis will be conducted before delivery according to the
customer’s product standards. The Mine strictly stipulates
that during the storage and transportation of products, all
uranium containers must be sealed to the fullest extent
possible to avoid leaking of radioactive materials and
damage to the biosphere. In the course of transportation, it
is required that the hazardous nature of uranium products
must be clearly marked on the transportation vehicles to
serve as safety warnings.

Separately, the Mine has formulated a policy that
prohibits all employees from disclosing information about
customers who purchase natural uranium. Due to the
uniqueness of the product’s ways of use and standards
of quality assessment, the information released by the
Mine in promoting its products is basically consistent with
the information of the products itself and is without any
exaggeration or falsification. Furthermore, the Company
has put in place sound rules and regulations on intellectual
property rights, and organized training for employees to
raise their awareness of intellectual property protection.

The Company and the Mine are in strict compliance with
the relevant product responsibility laws and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there has been no case of
prosecution for violation of laws and regulations relating to
product responsibility or privacy, and there has been no
complaint about products and services.
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Anti-corruption

The Company and the Mine abide by the principle of fair
business practices. Separately, the Mine has formulated
anti-corruption and fraud prevention policies. These clearly
prescribe that all violations of financial regulatory measures
such as money laundering, illegal provision of material
rewards to individuals and enterprises, illegal receipt of
material rewards from individuals are all illegal acts of
corruption. Targeted preventive measures have also been
introduced to remove corruption. Additionally, training
courses on preventing of corruption-related crimes, such
as money laundering, are also organized to enhance
employee’s awareness of integrity practice.

The Mine organizes open tendering and bidding in
strict accordance with the procurement rules set by
Kazakhstan’s state-owned asset management fund to
ensure fairness and compliance of the relevant procedures.
The procurement rules also stipulate that the tender
notice and related information must be published on
the designated media to material suppliers or service
contractors. Furthermore, the Company’s internal service
procurement must undergo a rigorous pre-approval
process, while a tiered approval system must be set up for
bids and contracts with different amounts to ensure that
the procurement procedures are closely monitored.

The Company and the Mine are in strict compliance
with the relevant anti-corruption laws and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there has been no case of
prosecution for violation of relevant laws and regulations.

Community Investment

The Company and the Mine continue to contribute
to the development of communities in different areas
through charitable donations and support for cultural and
educational activities.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Committed to corporate social responsibilities, the Mine in
Kazakhstan has organized large-scale community activities
over the years, and vigorously supported and participated
in charity programs. The main activities during the reporting
period include:

1. A long-term internship training program with the
Prairie Mining Technical School* (& i fRAE i
%) and the Semimarazine Geotechnical School*
(FPRERDRIE KAL) was initiated. Through
this program, students were able to experience the
actual working environment and made themselves
prepared for future participation in the society.

2. Organized employees to participate in sports events

hosted by the local government as a mean to
support the development of sports. Employees were
encouraged to take active parts in sports activities.
On the other hand, the Mine has actively participated
in the Islamic New Year celebrations hosted by local
organizations. The participation in these cultural and
sports activities helped bringing people closer and
building a harmonious society.

3. Actively took part in various educational and cultural

activities. These include book donations to schools
run by the local government and donations for the
maintenance of school roads. Funds have also been
provided to cover the daily operating expenses of the
local stadium.

* For identification only
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The Company advocates green and low-carbon lifestyle

and took the initiative to organize regular green activities.

Since its establishment, the Company has every year

kept the practice of organizing tree-planting activities for

employees in building a green home. Complementarily,

hiking and other fitness activities were also organized on a

yearly basis. Details of the activities are as follows:

In April 2017, echoing the call of the Beijing Municipal
Government to increase the urban green coverage
rate, the Company’s trade union organized a
voluntary tree-planting activity under the theme of “a
Date with Spring and Hug the Green Land”. Through
the concerted efforts of our employees, more than
300 trees were planted.

In March 2017, the Company organized an activity
entitled “Travel Green”. Employees who have
signed up for the program shared bicycle-ride to
the Beijing Olympic Forest Park and went jogging
in the Park. With its focus on environmental-friendly
transportation, the activity aimed at encouraging
greater interests in environmental protection and
promoting a low-carbon mean of travel. It could also
enhance internal communication among employees
of different departments.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

fekspda
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
HEZREERRATE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN Mining
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to 210,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the
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accounting policies on pages 128-130.

The key audit matter

The Group has 19.92%
interest in an associate, Fission
Uranium Corp. which is a listed
company in Canada. As at 31
December 2017, the interest in
an associate held by the Group is
approximately HK$550,202,000.

During the year ended
31 December 2017, the
associate has incurred loss in
operation. Following a review
of the business, the outlook
for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium
price was in a decreasing trend
from the date of acquisition
to the end of reporting period
and the Canadian dollar was
in fluctuation, there is a risk
of impairment in respect of
the interest in an associate;
management has carried out the
impairment assessment on the
interest in an associate.

We considered this a key
audit matter because this
involves a significant degree
of management judgement
in respect of the valuation
methods and assumptions for
the estimation of the recoverable
amount of the interest in the
associate.

CGN Mining Company Limited
BB AR AR

How the matter was addressed

in our audit

Our procedures were designed
to review the management’s
assessment of the indicators of
impairment and understand and
assess the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used
in the valuation model to estimate
the recoverable amount of the
associate.

We have discussed and assessed
the indicators of possible
impairment with the management
and the component auditor
and, where such indicators
were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

We have assessed the valuation
methodology and compared
significant inputs to third party
sources. We have also understood
and assessed the key assumptions
and critical judgement used by
the management based on our
knowledge of the business and
industry.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 128-130.

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interest
in a joint venture, Semizbay-U
Limited Liability Partnership.
As at 31 December 2017, the
interest in a joint venture held
by the Group is approximately
HK$161,280,000.

During the year ended 31
December 2017, the joint
venture has incurred loss in
operation. Following a review
of the business, the outlook
for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium
price was in a decreasing trend
from the beginning to the end
of reporting period, there is a
risk of impairment in respect of
the interest in a joint venture;
management has carried out
the impairment assessment on
the interest in a joint venture.

We considered this a key
audit matter because this
involves a significant degree
of management judgement
in respect of the valuation
methods and assumptions
for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the
interest in the joint venture.

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

Our procedures were designed
to review the management’s
assessment of the indicators of
impairment and understand and
assess the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used
in the valuation model to estimate
the recoverable amount of the joint
venture.

We have discussed and assessed
the indicators of possible impairment
with the management and the
component auditors and, where
such indicators were identified,
assessed the management’s
impairment testing.

We have assessed the valuation
methodology and compared
significant inputs to third party
sources. We have also understood
and assessed the key assumptions
and critical judgement used by
the management based on our
knowledge of the business and
industry.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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Ino[ependent Auditor’s Report
B Z AR E

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

CGN Mining Company Limited
L AR AR
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5044

Hong Kong
27 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEskAMEEIER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 £ ZE2017412 A31B It FE

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Revenue e 8 372,790 707,749
Cost of sales SHERA (253,774) (284,244)
Gross profit EF 119,016 423,505
Other operating income HA g EIRA 8 19,753 7,269
Administrative expenses IR Y (34,366) 41,278)
Changes in fair value of
investment properties BEMEAREEE) 18 358 2,158
Share of results of a joint venture BiE—HaEtEER (20,558) 44,575
Share of results of an associate e —E RS (16,457) 33,284
Finance costs BEKAE 10 = (6,601)
Profit before taxation 5Nyl 67,746 463,912
Income tax expenses FefiX 11 (15,668) (74,782)
Profit for the year attributable to owners KAEER AEWG
of the Company FEREF 12 52,078 389,130
Earnings per share FREF 14
Basic AR HKO0.79 cents HK7.05 cents
0.79;584 7.05 781
Diluted e HKO.79 cents HK6.61 cents
0.79 711l 6.61 71

CGN Mining Company Limited
FEZEEAR AT



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

melEERkHMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & £2017E12A31 8 [FEE

2017 2016
2017 £F 2016 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAIT
Profit for the year INEE FE 52,078 389,130
Other comprehensive income (expenses): Ehamlas (FAX)
Items that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss: R B 72 BB -
Exchange differences on translation REM B R B mRESE
of financial statements of subsidiaries ZIEHEZR 5,332 (4,412)
Exchange differences on translation of BE—RHEECEMBERREE
financial statements of a joint venture ZERZESR 2,457 3,620
Exchange differences on translation of HE M A ENERRES
financial statements of an associate ZEHZE=SH 42,843 29,459
Other comprehensive income for the year REEZHMEEINE 50,632 28,667
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEHEIKSERE 102,710 417,797

Annual Report 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR I &

As at 31 December 2017 72017FE12 831 H

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
2017 2016 F
12831 H 12 A31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BENEE 17 16,529 17,347
Investment properties REYE 18 31,427 29,021
Interest in a joint venture R—TAAEhE S 19 161,280 186,467
Interest in an associate RS ¥R 20 550,202 520,316
759,438 753,151
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables EWERF R M IE 21 128,900 8,886
Amount due from an intermediate FEUL— P AR A A)
holding company EQIE] 22 1,546 2,650
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries EWR ZH B A RZIE 23 - 1,080,947
Bank balances and cash RiTEEERS 24 1,017,111 40,915
Income tax recoverable AR E TSR 4,280 -
1,151,837 1,133,398
Total assets EEHAE 1,911,275 1,886,549
Current liabilities RBaE
Trade and other payables ERERREMENTE 25 90,152 8,803
Amount due to an intermediate JE A~ — il R R AR A )
holding company IR 22 6,490 13,238
Amount due to a joint venture R —EAaaERUA 26 5,513 5,813
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FERIZH B A RZIE 23 1,212 378
Income tax payable FERTETIS TR 4,047 26,353
107,414 54,585
Net current assets REEEZE 1,044,423 1,078,813
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERRBEE 1,803,861 1,831,964
1 08 CGN Mining Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR IR

As at 31 December 2017 7201712 H31H

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
2017 5 2016 4F
12831 H 12 A31H
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B sE FEx THIT
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital %N 27 66,007 66,007
Reserves i 1,724,748 1,750,552
Total equity ERAE 1,790,755 1,816,559
Non-current liability *RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 29 13,106 15,405

1,803,861 1,831,964

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 210 were HNREI106E210B 2RV BEHRERN
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27  20184E3 A27 BIR EE & #t /E R IZ#E T

March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: % WHTIIEEREKREE
Director &% Director &%
Annual Report 2017 1 09

—ZT—+FFR



Conso[iplgted Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 £ ZE2017412 A31B It FE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
ARRRERAEERE

Exchange  Share
Share  Share translation  options Reserve Retained Other

capital premium  reserve  reserve fund earnings  reserve Total

RRE
ks BHEE EiRE i REES RERN HMEE Eh)
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
fér fEr fEr TEr fEr TEr TEr TEn

(Note a) (Note b)
(Ka) (H&Db)
At 1 January 2017 R2017E1R1A 66,007 1,681,112 (597,839 154 27583 722258  (82,716) 1,816,559
Profit for the year REEEF - - - - - 52078 - 5078
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEE 2 AN :
Exchange diferences on translation of BENBARMRRREE
financial statements of subsidiaries EHER - - 5,332 - - - - 5,332
Exchange differences on translation of BE-BARCENERR
financial statements of  joint venture EE7ERER - - 2457 - - - - 2457
Exchange differences on translation of HE-BRECEBRE
financial statements of an associate EEV7ELZE = - 483 o - - - 488
Total comprehensive income for the year TEEREhEEE - - 50,632 - - 52078 - 102,710
Dividend recognised as distribution (note 1) AENRZIRE (FE13) - - - - - (132,014) - (132014)
Share of other reserve of an associate - BRELEEMEE - - - - - - 3500 3500
At 31 December 2017 R1TE12831 A 66007 1681112 (47207 154 27583 642322 (19216) 1,790,755
1 1 O CGN Mining Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & £2017E12A31 8 [FEE

Equity atrioutable to owners of the Company

consideration of United States dollars (“USD”) 133,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,030,899,000) and the aggregate
paid-in capital of Jt R ia#HERIZREBRRAE (for identification
purpose, in English, Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources
Investment Company Limited, referred to as “Beijing Sino-Kazakh”)
of Renminbi (“RMB”) 823,770,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$944,534,000) acquired under business combinations under
common control and (i) share of other reserve of an associate.

s
Equiy
componentof  Bxchange  Share
Share  Share comvetble tranlfion  optons  Reseve  Retaned  Other
pemum  bonds  reseve  resene fnd  eamings  resene Tota
7 e
f Eiff  BE BREC REEN EbER &
HKS000  HKS000  HKB00D  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
Thr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TR TEn
(Notea) (Noteh)
(Hika) (kD)
At1 January 2016 B016E1A1H 46309 99873 69414 (626,506) 14 27588 333128 (86,365) 759,650
Issued of shares pon conversion NERTARESR
of convertile bonds ki 13044 361904 (69.414) - - - - - 2953
Proft for the year REZEH - - - - - - 309130 - 39130
Other comprehenive (evpense) ncome for heyear: —— AEEABAE (RR)M&
Exchange diferences on transaton of HENBNE SRR,
financialstatements of subsiciaies EiZ2 = = - (44 - - - - 44
Exchange diferences on tanslaon of HE-ReRtrunEEs
financialstatements of a jointventure JEREE - - - 30 - - - - 380
Exchange diferences on trnslaon of HE-PRetEuREREE
finencil statements of an associate JEREE - - - 09459 - - - - 9459
Total comprehensive income for he year TERRANAAE - - - B - - 39190 -4
Issu of ngw shares, net of ransaction cost B8R0 (BRGRE) 650  3333% - - - - - - 399
Share of other resenve of an assoclate Eh-FRELRENRE = = - - - - - 360 360
At 31 December 2016 R016%F12A31A 66,007 1,681,112 - (597839 o4 588 TR28  (82716) 1816559
Note (a): Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have izt (a) : AP ARARME ([ B )RR 2 M E R A
appropriated 10% of the profit to reserve fund. The reserve fund is BRI Z 10% BARHRES - FHEESE
required to be retained in the accounts of the subsidiaries for specific REBAHB AR ZRE AERFERR ©
purposes.
Note (b): The other reserve represents (i) the difference between the FEE (o) : H A IR () IR B L RIEGIT 2 2754 0f

U 8% &9 X {8 133,000,000 7T (48 & M 49
1,030,899,000 770 ) B4t A 15 BRI E
BRAB (Mt BEEABBEAR
# 823,770,000 7T (#8 & 7 47 944,534,000 7%
T0) 2 R 2 58 I (i) FE L — FEBF & SR H
it
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B I EE

2017 2016
2017%F 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES geEs
Profit before taxation BRI AR S 67,746 463,912
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ BERRETE 1,849 1,950
Changes in fair value of investment properties REMENHERE (358) (2,158)
Finance costs BARA = 5,601
Interest income FEHA (16,733) (46)
Interest income from overdue sale HERBAR 2B
proceeds of disposal of subsidiaries FEU R 2 A B IR A = (269)
Loan interest income from fellow subsidiaries RZWBARZ EZFI8MA = (4,273)
Trade deposit interest income from a joint venture —HAEE BRI BMA = (161)
Share of results from a joint venture EE—HAE RS 20,558 (44,575)
Share of results from an associate B —FER e ¥ EE 16,457 (33,284)
Operating cash flow before movements in HEECEERI L LERENE
working capital 89,519 386,697
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables FEMRER 30 e B A R (38 00) > (115,805) 121,517
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables FERTBE T E f e MR IBIE o0 (R4 81,349 (37,667)
(Decrease) increase in current account with — R EHER A R RFIE (R ) 80
an intermediate holding company (6,314) 8,990
(Decrease) increase in amount due to a joint venture et —fEa S EIE G ) (300) 2,521
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries J&(< FZ K18 A FIEIER M (H4) 793 (2,503)
Cash from operations REXBHRERE 49,242 479,555
Hong Kong tax paid BAEEHE (44,084) (62,083)
The United Kingdom Corporation Tax paid BN EBEMER (650) (1,371)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReZBREREFE 4,508 416,131

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEREXAR AR



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meBREERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I EE

2017 2016
2017%F 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FirsE THT AT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Transfer from amounts due from fellow BRAEKRZNBARTES
subsidiaries to bank balances and cash BITREFLRRE 24 1,080,947 -
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries RZMBARIER - 1,051,153
Interest income from fellow subsidiaries RZMBEARZFIEHA - 4,449
Interest income from overdue trade receivable —fE R R 2 7] 2 B E R
from an intermediate holding company BRZMBHA - 3,577
Interest income from overdue sale proceeds HEHBR R ZBHEKR
of disposal of subsidiaries ZHBIA = 269
Interest income received EHFIBHRA 12,524 46
Trade deposit interest income from a joint venture —REEREZBRAFTFEHA - 161
Dividend received from a joint venture WE—FREECERNRE 7,086 -
Deposits advanced to fellow subsidiaries MR RMBR R 2R = (1,655,517)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BERR - )
Cash inflow from deferred cash consideration HENBRRZELRSHE
from disposal of subsidiaries ZHERA - 35,000
Acquisition of an associate Wis— B et 36 = (437,363)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REZBRE (A REFE
ACTIVITIES 1,100,557 (998,230)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Dividend paid ERRE (132,014) -
Net proceeds from issue of shares by subscription REEIROABIEFE - 339,929
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING MEEH (A IEREFR
ACTIVITIES (132,014) 339,929
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH BeRBEELEEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B0 0RD) FE 973,051 (242,170)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RENZRERRLEEEE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 40,915 285,528
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExEH 2 3,145 (2,443)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END REAY PSR ASZERES -
OF THE YEAR, represented by RTEERRE
bank balances and cash 1,017,111 40,915

Annual Report 2017
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GENERAL

CGN Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liabilities. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent is FEiHEZERE AR /A7) (China
Uranium Development Company Limited) (“China Uranium
Development”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of /1 &% i3 2 & AR A &) (CGNPC
Uranium Resources Co. Ltd.) (“CGNPC-URC”), which is in
turn a subsidiary of EEZEEBRE AR (China General
Nuclear Power Corporation) (“CGNPC”). CGNPC is the ultimate
parent of the Company. Both CGNPC-URC and CGNPC were
established in the PRC and state-owned enterprises.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the Annual Report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to the “Group”) are property investment,
trading of natural uranium and other investments.

The functional currency of the Company is USD. As the
Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”).

CGN Mining Company Limited
BB AR AR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B I EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and
Interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle:
Amendments to HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.

FERFET RGBT EEM
B E 2R ([ FRMBE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B IL&EE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAFHITIRLEBITIEBH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREER ([ EBHEHR
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued) SR ) z)

= R a5t

B BB T3 R £ Rz # /] R ARME ]
BERPBREER

AREEY EIEF EA TS B M
AR ER L HA] HAENERT BB

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

R

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments’ EEMBRELED  S@MIA
F95:(2014 %)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts ERMBHREEN  RERFPHAYD
with Customers' E155 LN
HKFRS 16 Leases” BANBREERL HE?
£165%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® ERPERERED  REBAKS
E1TH
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to BRUBREEN  AAUKREE
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle' BRI 20145 F 20165
BEMFE S
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to BRUBREEN  AAUHREE
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle® BRI 2015FF 20176
BEMEE S
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and BERBRERER  ARD AW
Measurement of E2RBITAR RHMDER
Share-based Payment E!
Transactions'
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial ERURRLSEN  EEBHESRS
Instruments with HKFRS 4 FAFEFR ERE 4RRR
Insurance Contracts' BR—GERZ
BENBREES
EoReMTA"
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with BRMBREER  EABARERN
Negative Compensation® F9RIETAR B2

CGN Mining Company Limited
hEXEEER A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P HR R A

For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H I EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Investments in
Associates and Joint

Ventures®

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfer of Investment
Property’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

Effective date not yet been determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

FERFET RGBT EEM
BaREER ([ FRMBE R
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BEMBREEN REEEHEZIA
FI0RRELET ELRCABE
ERAFBRETAR  HERIE

Bt EA BELARAE
F28 FEATA TRRIRA?

BEEaE RENFEE
FA0RERTA

BE(ERFBRE IMERIREN
2EZ8E) HE"

—RREE 2%

&5 (EBHERSE AMEHEEN
HEZE®) THEE 2
-RBE2BH

1 R2018%1 A1 Ak 2 %Rt 2 F
FEHAR A 3K -

2 R2019F1 A1 Bz B HBZE
FEHAR AR ©

E 202151 A1 B2 B Fte 2 F
S AR A K

4 SR ARMABETE

ARAREEFEY  RTXFAtE
S FERETR] RRER] BB 5
HHERIE AR B W EE RN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B IL&EE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring
into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will
allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities
in the financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of HKFRS
9 that were issued in previous years with limited amendments
to the classification and measurement by introducing a “fair
value through other comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI”)
measurement category for certain financial assets. The finalised
version of HKFRS 9 also introduces an “expected credit loss”
model for impairment assessments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H I EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) that are relevant to the
Group are described as follows:

o All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 (2014) to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 (2014) requires that the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in
other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in
the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss
was presented in profit or loss.

In the aspect of impairment assessments, the
impairment requirements relating to the accounting
for an entity’s expected credit losses on its financial
assets and commitments to extend credit were added.
Those requirements eliminate the threshold that was
in HKAS 39 for the recognition of credit losses. Under
the impairment approach in HKFRS 9 (2014) it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised. Instead, expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit
losses should always be accounted for. The amount
of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition and, consequently, more timely information
is provided about expected credit losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

o HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which is more
closely aligns hedge accounting with risk management
activities undertaken by companies when hedging
their financial and non-financial risk exposures. As
a principle-based approach, HKFRS 9 (2014) looks
at whether a risk component can be identified and
measured and does not distinguish between financial
items and non-financial items. The new model also
enables an entity to use information produced internally
for risk management purposes as a basis for hedge
accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary to exhibit
eligibility and compliance with the requirements in HKAS
39 using metrics that are designed solely for accounting
purposes. The new model also includes eligibility criteria
but these are based on an economic assessment of
the strength of the hedging relationship. This can be
determined using risk management data. This should
reduce the costs of implementation compared with
those for HKAS 39 hedge accounting because it
reduces the amount of analysis that is required to be

undertaken only for accounting purposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application

permitted.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

The directors of the Company has performed a preliminary
analysis of the Group’s financial instruments as at 31 December
2017 based on the fact and circumstances existing at that
date. The directors of the Company have assessed the impact
of adoption of HKFRS 9 (2014) on the Group’s results and
financial position, including the classification categories and the
measurement of financial assets, and disclosures, as follows:

@ Impairment

The application of the expected credit loss model may
result in earlier recognition of credit losses for trade
and other receivables and increase the amount of
impairment allowance recognised for these items.

The directors of the Company will perform a more
detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and
supportable information for the estimation of the
effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 (2014). Based on the
preliminary assessment, the directors of the Company
expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 (2014) will not
have other material impact on amounts reported in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 8, £2017412 831 H ILE[E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Thus, HKFRS 15
introduces a model that applies to contracts with customers,
featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions
to determine whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. The five steps are as follows:

i) |dentify the contract with the customer;

i) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

i) Determine the transaction price;

V) Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations; and
V) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable users
of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The major sources of revenue of the Group are sales of goods,
investment income and rental income. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised for each of the performance obligations
when control over a good or service is transferred to a
customer. The directors of the Company have preliminarily
assessed each type of the performance obligations and
consider that the performance obligations are similar to
the current identification of separate revenue components
under HKAS 18 Revenue. Furthermore, HKFRS 15 requires
the transaction price to be allocated to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, which
may affect the timing and amounts of revenue recognition,
and results in more disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the directors of the Company expect that
the adoption of HKFRS 15 will not have a material impact on
the timing and amounts of revenue recognised based on the
existing business model of the Group as at 31 December 2017.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the
financial statements of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I EE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, the
initial estimate of restoration costs and any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee. A lease liability is initially recognised at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. Lease liability is subsequently measured
by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payment made, and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect
any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-
substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation and impairment
expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be charged to
profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on lease liability will
be charged to profit or loss.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17
Leases. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases
as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it
becomes effective.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will become effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019 with early application permitted
provided that the entity has applied HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$4,683,000 as disclosed
in note 33. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon
the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of
new requirements may result changes in the measurement,
presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The directors
of the Company are in the process to determine the amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position, after taking
into account all practical expedients and recognition exemption
under HKFRS 16. The directors of the Company expect that
the adoption of HKFRS 16 will not have material impact on the
Group’s result but certain portion of these lease commitments
will be required to be recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties that
are measured at fair values.

CGN Mining Company Limited
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, power over the investee may be obtained through:
(i) a contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights
arising from other contractual arrangements; (iiij the Group’s
voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of
the above, based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of these elements of control stated above.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture (Continued)

The Group’s investments in an associate and a joint venture are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method. Under the equity method, investments in
an associate and a joint venture are initially recognised at cost.
The Group’s share of the profit or loss and changes in the other
comprehensive income of the associate and joint venture are
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate or joint venture, which determined
using the equity method together with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies
other than those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances, adjustments are made to make the
associate’s or joint venture’s accounting policies conform to
those of the Group when the associate’s or joint venture’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of
the investment, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the associate or joint venture is recognised
as goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the
investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B I EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture (Continued)

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s or joint venture’s losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional
impairment loss with respect to its investment in the associate
or joint venture. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
not separately recognised. The entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or
joint venture. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group’s ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest is reclassified to profit or loss if
that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate or joint venture are recognised in
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. The
Group’s share in the associate’s or joint venture’s gains or
losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss, if any.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings (classified as finance leases) held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &,£2017412 431 B ILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

If an investment property becomes an owner-occupied
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by
commencement of an owner-occupation, the fair value of
that property at the date of transfer is the deemed cost for
subsequent accounting for that property as an item of property,
plant and equipment.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial asset and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It E[E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from an
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B IL&EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

Obijective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and
other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the credit period ranging from 25
to 30 days, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance amount are
recognised in profit or loss. When trade and other receivables
are considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
amounts due to an intermediate holding company, a joint
venture and fellow subsidiaries are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B IL&EE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
the liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest rate of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the bonds into
equity, is included in equity (equity component of convertible
bonds).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component, representing
the option to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in equity component of
convertible bonds until the conversion option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated in equity component of
convertible bonds will be transferred to share premium).
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in equity component of convertible bonds will be
released to the retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity components are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognise its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &,£2017412 A31 H IFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash
as defined above.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for goods sold in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating
leases is described in the accounting policy below.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Management fee income is recognised when services are
provided.

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees (after 7 November 2002
and vested on or after 1 January 2005)

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the
share options granted vest immediately, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

CGN Mining Company Limited
PERREERAT

3.

B HE
Wz (47)
. W SRR R Sethat B

. RPEMZEBENRRA

AEERRERELREREHE
SRR -

et 5 A M) 2 P BE AT I AR SR 18 K
W SRR At E - Al B
REMBEENBIA  FEWATS
S2BAREERS ERERNE -
ERREERG - BENXTRE
BMEEBTFH - ShH R
BRSCERMREZEER T
R HREFHE

EEBWATIR IR RISE T AR
7
ERGEEIROBNARRS

[AIE B #5111 B iR 1 (2002 F 11 A7
H# » 20064 1 A1 HetZ 1%

58)

2EBRENROBHRZAAEE
EZERGRAE  ERBBE
BB 53 B A N IR 1 B HIZR SRR R
FASc - AR IR e a5 (RB AR
) o

AEENRE MEAERRETHEY
BHREEBOBEERR 2G
it e BRIRERBTEEZZE (I
B)MNERER - BERFFHR
BRAZIER] 2 et - WNEREREE
fEtREAE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (after 7 November 2002
and vested on or after 1 January 2005) (Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will continue to
be held in share options reserve.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

3.

FESTHEX &)

BEEEZRONRRS (E)

[AIE B 1% /1 B R 1 (2002 F 11 5 7
H# - 2006 1 A1 HEZ 4
FE)(E)

FBREETER - R B
BERZ BB EREROES -
BN SR R RS
JEm B ARETE - AR RTR B
RFERER BB ERFNE
PEAEE S o

BiE

P8 3% ) H5 A< B R T B AC
BIEZ 4870 -

J& 15t BVERR IR Th 3% 7N 67 [ 8 SR Bt i
HMEHE - ERBSEN RS EER
FATRER B ADE N N - RE SR
ENRREERMFERRT KA
MWASFS - BT BIEBERD
KRR ZIAE - AEREZBIH
BIRABETRRE RREAERATE R
R ERD B 2 HETHE

BT IR AR & M HRAR AR
BEMBBEZEREEREFEER
A54348 M1 P PR A B T 2 P e P 22 R
R B ARE —RBLAE ER
Wiy Z R - MEEREER
FA R BE R ) P FE AR B M DA 85 7]
REREF ZRR 2 IF 0 THERR » AR
—IHAR ST - AEEREEHE G
PSNRRAYIFEREMEER AR
MmalB T EFERREN TS
FaEeaN R ER AT
ERAREHEEENAGE -

Annual Report 2017
— Tt FFR

141



142

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &,£2017412 A31 H IFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associate and interest in joint venture, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with the
general principles above.

CGN Mining Company Limited
TEEREREAR AR

FESITEER

B ()

BB ETENE A F e
EERERGECEEREEZRE
ARTLER Y RARERD - MM AN SR AT
72 ) ey 2= R R (O] K R S B 4
PRI R A B 2 BRAIRRSN - B
B FIE KA an 2 AR RS =
BELRLERREE  ERNAE
AR RIS RERER
Mam - B TRHIR AT 5K 2 % (ol s e

*7]
s ©

EEHBEENREENE RS
HIR FLAZB) - anhrl B A =S
FERTOR N ] U@ 2= #R kA D &
E - ASHIBUREHR BRI AREE -

ERERBEEERARIRBRRE
HiR AR DR L ERC B2
ﬁ*@ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%%
""""" SREENBERACHEFE

EREHARBEREEZFTERRA
SERHENREHRAERK R @
BREEERABREEEL 2B
‘R -

HEERARAABEXGFENRE
YRR IE B BRI IEE
EMs @ ZSWENREEDRSK
AEEHE 2 ERE - BRIEZRBRER
TR - BIREMEN TFINER
RAEBMEBEX (REBKEZ
R EMIEE RS BFEIREY
EXMBENRRBIEENR)A
ﬁﬁk'ﬁﬁF“ATﬁlohﬁ
B NARAL - A B B W ER
EEFIEAEREEHEEERE
Eii—RIRAIGTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss
for the period, except for exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income, in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting date. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
the exchange translation reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease, except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the lease payment cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment.

Retirement benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (defined contribution plans)
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminate the
employment of current employees according to a detailed
formal plan without possibility of withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value in use of tangible assets for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy
for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value
on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities from
investment properties that were measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties in the PRC were held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantively all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors of the Company determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model recovered entirely through sale
was rebutted. As a result, the Group continues to recognise
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value of investment
properties on the basis that the entire carrying amounts of the
properties will be recovered through use.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Significant influence over associate

As per note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company considered Fission Uranium Corp.
(“Fission”), in which the Group has 19.92% (2016: 19.98%)
equity interest, is an associate of the Group as the Group has
significant influence over Fission by virtue of its contractual right
appointed two out of eight directors (2016: two out of nine) to
the board of directors of Fission.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated useful life and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment were depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual values. The determination of
the useful lives and residual values involved management’s
estimation. The Group assessed annually the residual value
and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment and
if the expectation differed from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the depreciation in the year and
the estimate would be changed in the future period. As at
31 December 2017, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment was approximately HK$16,529,000 (2016:
HK$17,347,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017FE12 A31 A L EE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and an
intermediate holding company

When there was objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group took into consideration the estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss was measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows were less than expected, a material
impairment loss might arise. As at 31 December 2017, the
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries and an intermediate holding company
were approximately HK$128,176,000 (2016: HK$8,453,000),
Nil (2016: HK$1,080,947,000) and HK$1,546,000 (2016:
HK$2,650,000) respectively.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The impairment loss for property, plant and equipment was
recognised for the amounts by which the carrying amounts
exceed their recoverable amounts, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment are the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In determining
the recoverable amount, use of estimates such as the future
revenue and discount rates is required. As at 31 December
2017, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
was approximately HK$16,529,000 (2016: HK$17,347,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,ZE2017FE12A31 B 1L EE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties
are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed
by independent professional valuers. In determining the fair
value, the valuers have based on a method of valuation which
involves certain estimates of market conditions. In relying on the
valuation report, the directors of the Company have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the assumptions used
in the valuation have reflected the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in
the fair values of the Group’s investment properties being
recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of investment
properties measured at fair value at 31 December 2017 was
approximately HK$31,427,000 (2016: HK$29,021,000).

Impairment loss on investment in a joint venture

At the end of the reporting period, the Company reviews the
carrying amounts of investment in a joint venture to determine
whether there is any indication that the investment has
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the investment is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
determination of recoverable amount of investment in a joint
venture involves estimates as to: (1) future revenues based
on forecasted uranium prices; (2) actual production volume
of uranium mines held by the joint venture; (3) exchange rate
between Tenge, the currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan
(“Kazakhstan”), and USD; (4) the discount rate to be applied
to such revenues and costs for the purpose of deriving
a recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount of the
investment is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. The carrying amount of investment in a joint venture is
approximately HK$161,280,000 (2016: HK$186,467,000) as
at 31 December 2017. No impairment is recognised for current
and prior years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B ILEE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss on investment in an associate

At the end of the reporting period, the Company reviews the
carrying amounts of investment in an associate to determine
whether there is any indication that the investment has
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the investment is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
determination of recoverable amount of investment in an
associate involves estimates as to: (1) the appropriateness of
the comparable transactions selected under market approach;
(2) the indicated resources of uranium; (3) exchange rate
between Canadian dollar (“CAD”), the currency of Canada,
and USD and (4) the uranium price adjustment rate to be
applied to such comparable transactions for the purpose of
deriving a recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount of the
investment is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For the year ended 31 December 2017, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,005,000 (2016: HK$220,032,000)
was recognised in profit or loss and included in share of
results of an associate. The carrying amount of investment
in an associate is approximately HK$550,202,000 (2016:
HK$520,316,000) as at 31 December 2017.

Fair value measurement and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets including investment properties
and identifiable assets and liabilities of an associate at the
acquisition date are measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The directors of the Company are responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements. Details are set out in notes 18 and 20.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I E[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement and valuation processes (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The directors of the Company work closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has not been recognised
the tax losses of approximately HK$76,376,000 (2016:
HK$63,685,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. These losses relate to subsidiaries that have a history
of tax losses and the Group has not accounted for the relevant
deferred tax. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. The directors of
the Company determine the deferred taxation assets based
on the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and the
best knowledge of profit projections of the Group for coming
years during which the deferred taxation assets are expected
to be utilised. The directors of the Company will review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end of the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &, £2017412 431 B ILEE

5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to an intermediate holding company,
a joint venture and fellow subsidiaries, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. The directors of
the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As a part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s
capital structure.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

SREE
Tf\&ﬁg”y/ﬁ\lﬁ

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including

5.

EXEREE
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Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost b re S 1= DN 103,367 28,232
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017412 831 H I E[E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from an intermediate holding
company and fellow subsidiaries, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables and amounts due to an intermediate
holding company, a joint venture and fellow subsidiaries. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from rental income and purchases by
the Group in currencies other than the entities’ functional
currencies. Approximately 100% (2016: 100%) of the Group’s
rental income are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group’s entity. In addition, certain
portion of trade and other receivables, amount due from an
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, amount due to
an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &,£2017412 431 B ILEE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the end of

the reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
monetary assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other

BEEBREEEBRRBER
(#)
EHER (2

TRETRAKBRN RS B RE
HAEEREKEENBENEER
HEAEEE R AN e B EEEL

than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. 2R o
usD’000 RMB’000 HK$000 CAD’000
ST ARBTT THER T
Presented in: 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
B A 2017F 20165 2017F 20165 2017F 20166 207§ 2016
Assets BE 12,466 905 21,522 33942 308,384 498475 1 44535
Liabilities BE = - (7,350) (12,679  (1,210) (2,799 (16) -

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of RMB, USD,
HK$ and CAD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity (i) to a 5%,
5% and 0.5% increase or decrease in HK$ against the RMB,
CAD and USD respectively for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016. 5%, 5% and 0.5% are the sensitivity rates
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represent management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

CGN Mining Company Limited

156 REREXARAT

AREEREWEINESREER - A
m - BEEEERINERR - XNRE
FEREBHIPEAINEER

BB T

AEETZEHARE - XT 8
TERITEE R

TRAFVAER(I)EZE2017F K&
2016F 12 A31 HIEFEHEBTY
BIEAREE - T RETHESE
B5% * 5% % 0.5% 2 B RKE ° %
BRELL R (5% « 5% &% 0.5%) A&
mEEERABRINERBRIEAT
RERERAZHRE RREEE
FEONEDE KA REEE A 2 A B E EFT
YESHE ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R A

For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It E[E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HMEEREEBSEREX
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Currency risk (Continueqd) B (E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) R E DT ()
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign BURE DB AEE 2 INE
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their HEEEIE R KR RS IR 44 R
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% or 0.5% FLONEETE K 2 5% 8% 0.5% (2016 4F :
(2016: 5% or 0.5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive 5%3%0.5%) B ENEN 2 IRE FHEE o
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the TXZ FEBERGIEENINGESR
respective functional currency strengthen 5% or 0.5% (2016: 3,6 S E5%3005% (2016
5% or 0.5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% or 0.5% F : 5% 31 05%) FTE B Rt 1& 4 7
(2016: 5% or 0.5%) weakening of the respective functional ZFHIE o (HABFERIhRE B H A
currency against the relevant currency, there would be an equal B E7(E5%5%0.5%(20164F : 5%3X
and opposite impact on the profit. 05%) ' IS BEFIBRER < 558
A o

USD’000 RMB’000 HK$°000 CAD’000
TEnr ARETR THER T
Presented in; 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
SR A 2017F 20165 2017F 20165 2017%F 2016F 2017% 2016
Profit or loss sk EE (467) (34) (623) 857)  (1,282) (2,069 - -
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is BEERE BRTFHEBZRARIL
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the ERMFRRR - WERE ST
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the TREEBINER
year.
Interest rate risk Fi == = b
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation AREEMRER-_ZE—+F+—-H~
to its variable-rate bank balances and amounts due from fellow =+ —HARTEFRBeANEE
subsidiaries included in bank balances and cash as at 31 REERITEBRRERBERMEB A
December 2017. The Group currently does not have an interest AIREHHRSRENERRE - K
rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors SEB AR RBEK o A
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions i BEEYEEANERRE R
when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated. T8 HA A HH 2R B K1) 2 R P s 22 B R

HEMFAHTE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &,£2017412 431 B ILEE

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments
including bank balances and cash and amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2017
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$4,230,000
(2016: HK$4,668,000) bank balances and amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 22017412831 H It E[E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverability of each individual trade debt
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The directors of the Company consider the credit risk
attributable to the amount due from an intermediate
holding company and balances with fellow subsidiaries to
be insignificant as the default risk of the advance to the
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries is limited
considering the intermediate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries has sufficient net assets to repay its debts and
a good history of repayment. The Group does not expect to
incur a significant loss for uncollected amounts due from an
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 100%
(2016: 100%) of the total trade receivable as at 31 December
2017.

Besides, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 100%
(2016: 100%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer within natural uranium trading
segment. However, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk to be insignificant as the major debtor was immediate
holding company of the Company with good creditworthiness.
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds other than those placed with
fellow subsidiaries is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are repayable on
demand or within one year.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to their immediate or short-
term maturities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & £2017E12A31H [FEE

REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING 8.

INCOME

Revenue represents amount received and receivable from sales

of natural uranium, net of returns, discounts allowed and sales
related taxes, and gross rental income during the year. Revenue
recognised during the year are as follows:

ERARHEMEERA

LEBEFAIKRESE - AFHTH
NABRASHE DR R A2 UM
FEY IR - ARES WAL - Y
REERERZUmMT -

2017 2016
2017 F 2016 4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTExT T
Revenue BER
Sales of goods HEEM 370,720 705,556
Gross rental income WA LLEE 2,070 2,193
372,790 707,749
Other operating income H & A
Bank interest income RITHEURA 1 46
Interest income from fellow EER)=NCIPE RS ON
subsidiaries 16,732 4,273
Interest income from overdue HENB AR 2B ER R
sale proceeds of disposal ZFBUA = 269
of subsidiaries
Trade deposit interest income —ME&EREZBNRIE
from a joint venture WA - 161
Management fee income BEEEWA 2,993 2,504
Others Hth 27 16
19,753 7,269
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #,£2017F12 A31H L FE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION DEER
Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ”), NEFBFE RSB LD EPHRIFT
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of FEENREBEHITEREEZER
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance FERENERER R BT
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. BRENE RS RGERE - T B8
Operating segments identified by the chief operating decision SR T R B AR 520 ER A 4B kAN
maker are the same as the reportable segments of the Group. S BH A RS D EEAER
Accordingly, the Group’s reportable and operating segments Al - REBR R RELE D E A
are as follows: T
a) property investment se